# FILE COPY

# Development Of Guidelines For Construction Control Of Pile Driving And Estimation Of Pile Capacity

# WA-RD 68.1

Final Report June 1985



Washington State Department of Transportation

Planning, Research and Public Transportation Division In Cooperation with United States Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

			STANDARD TITLE PAG
1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalo	og No.
WA-RD-68.1			
4. Title and Subtitle	Len, mar and a second and a second a s	5. Report Date	<u></u>
Development of Guidelines f	or Construction Control of	June 1985	
Pile Driving and Estimation	of Pile Capacity (Phase I)	6. Performing Organ	ization Code
7. Author(s)Dr. Richard J. Fragas Dr. Jerry D. Higgins Mr. Evert C. Lawton	zy	8. Performing Organ	lization Report No.
9. Performing Organization Name and Address	······································	10, Work Unit No.	
Washington State Transporta	tion Center		
Washington State University		11. Contract or Gra	
Pullman, WA 99164		Y-2811 -	Task 9
		13. Type of Report	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address		Final Rep	
Washington State Departmen	t of Transportation	5/15/84 -	6/30/85
01ympia, WA 98504		14. Sponsoring Age	ncy Code
		, t. opensoring Age	
15. Supplementary Notes		<b></b>	
equation methods, pile analyze Departments is presented. driving formula can be consid Janbu, and Gates equations a comparisons of formula predict News formula and its modifies the worst predictors of pile can are included in comparisons prediction is consistently equ results can be excellent; however in its successful use. The majority of the 34 the Engineering News formula in equation was mentioned. Seven Engineering News formula to wa accuracy. Only two states m	The literature review show ered superior to all othe appear to be consistently a ions versus pile load test r ed versions are found, with apacity in these studies. W of predicted to measured of al to or better than the best ver, the ability of the oper states responding to a surve n its original or modified ral states indicated a swite	by State Tra s that no one rs. However, mong the best esults. The one exception hen wave equal apacity, the t formula. P ations is a con- rey indicated form. No of th in recent ye a resulting	ansportation dynamic pile , the Hiley, in published Engineering , to be among tion methods wave equation ile analyzer rucial factor that they use ther dynamic ears from the increase in
satisfied with it. Recommendations are mad Department of Transportation pr estimation of pile capacity. included.	e for the improvement of rocedures for construction o . Recommendations for add	control of pile	e_driving_and
17. Key Words	18. Distribution St	atement	
Bearing capacity, Pile Ana Pile Driving Formulas, Pil- Dynamics, State-of-the-Art Equation Analyses	lyzer, es, Soil		
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified	Unclassified	. 83	

## DEVELOPMENT OF GUIDELINES FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTROL OF PILE DRIVING AND ESTIMATION OF PILE CAPACITY

# (PHASE I)

bу

Dr. Richard J. Fragaszy, Principal Investigator Dr. Jerry D. Higgins, Co-investigator Mr. Evert C. Lawton, Research Assistant

Washington State Transportation Center Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering Washington State University Pullman, WA 99164-3001

## F**inal Report** Research Project Y-2811 Task 9

Prepared for Washington State Transportation Commission Department of Transportation and in cooperation with U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

June 30, 1985

The work upon which this report is based was supported by the Washington State Department of Transportation and the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration.

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the Washington State Department of Transportation or the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	age
CREDIT REFERENCE	ii
DISCLAIMER PAGE	iii
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	۷
LIST OF TABLES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
SUMMARY	1
CONCLUSIONS	3
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	4
INTRODUCTION	6
DESCRIPTION OF AVAILABLE METHODS	8
Dynamic Pile Driving Formulas	8 18 24 25
CURRENT PRACTICE OF STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENTS	28
Methods for Estimating Pile Capacity During Design Construction Control of Pile Driving	28 30 34
Comparison of Pile Load Tests Results with Formulas and/or Wave Equation	36 36 38 38
COMPARATIVE STUDIES	41
PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATIONS	65
REFERENCES	66
BIBLIOGRAPHY	69

# LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure		Page
1.	Smith's Lumped Mass Pile Model	21
2.	Engineering News Formula Predicted Pile Capacity Versus Measured Capacity Based on Spangler and Mumma	46
3.	Eytelwein Formula Predicted Pile Capacity Versus Measured Capacity Based on Spangler and Mumma	47
4.	Pacific Coast Uniform Building Code Formula Versus Measured Capacity Based on Spangler and Mumma	48
5.	Rabe Formula Versus Measured Capacity Based on Spangler and Mumma	49

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Commonly Used Dynamic Pile Driving Formulas	Page 10
2.	States Responding to Request for Information	29
3.	Summary of Responses to Question No. 2: Methods Used for Construction Control of Pile Driving	31
4.	Summary of Responses to Question No. 3: Comparative Study of Pile Driving Formulas	35
5.	Summary of Responses to Question No. 4: Comparative Studies of Pile Load Tests with Formulas and/or Wave Equation	37
6.	Summary of Responses to Question No. 5: Use of a Pile Analyzer	39
7.	Summary of Results from Chellis	43
8.	Summary of Results from Spangler and Mumma	44
9.	Summary of Statistical Analysis by Agerschou	50
10.	Results of Dynamic and Static Formula, Wave Equation and Load Test Analysis after Kazmierowski and Devata	55
11.	Comparison of Load Test and Pile Capacity Analyser Results after Kazmierowski and Devata	56
12.	Compilation of Statistical Parameters after Olson and Flaate	58
13.	Summary of Regression Analyses Statistical Parameters for Alabama Piles in Sands after Ramey and Hudgins	61
14.	Comparison of Wave Equation and Dynamic Equation Statistical Parameters after Ramey and Hudgins	63

vi

#### ABSTRACT

A literature review covering the use of dynamic pile driving equations, wave equation methods, pile analyzers, and current practices by State Transportation Departments is presented. The literature review shows that no one dynamic pile driving formula can be considered superior to all others. However, the Hiley, Janbu, and Gates equations appear to be consistently among the best in published comparisons of formula predictions versus pile load test results. The Engineering News formula and its modified versions are found, with one exception, to be among the worst predictors of pile capacity in these studies. When wave equation methods are included in comparisons of predicted to measured capacity, the wave equation prediction is consistently equal to or better than the best formula. Pile analyzer results can be excellent; however, the ability of the operations is a crucial factor in its successful use.

The majority of the 34 states responding to a survey indicated that they use the Engineering News formula in its original or modified form. No other dynamic equation was mentioned. Several states indicated a switch in recent years from the Engineering News formula to wave equation analyses with a resulting increase in accuracy. Only two states make regular use of a pile analyzer, but they are very satisfied with it.

Recommendations are made for the improvement of current Washington State Department of Transportation procedures for construction control of pile driving and estimation of pile capacity. Recommendations for additional research is also included.

vii

#### SUMMARY

Three general methods are presently available for construction control of pile driving and estimation of pile load capacity: dynamic formulas, wave equation analyses, and pile analyzers. Many hundreds of dynamic formulas are available; some of these are empirical, others are based on some form of Newton's laws of motion. However, only a handful of the available formulas are used with any regularity. Wave equation analysis is a more recent addition, although the theory was developed over a century ago. It took the development of numerical analysis and the general availability of computers to make this method practical. The latest method, pile analyzers, is actually an extension of the wave equation method. It incorporates data gathered by instrumenting the pile into a wave equation solution to back-calculate static pile capacity.

In a survey of state transportation departments in which 34 responses were obtained, it was found that dynamic formulas are used most often in their pile driving work, with wave equation analyses the next most popular, and pile analyzer use very limited, except for a few states. Of the states using formulas, all apparently use either the Engineering News or some modified version of the Engineering News formula. No other formula was mentioned in the responses. Very few states have conducted any type of investigation to compare the results from different methods and/or formulas.

Several states have abandoned the use of the Engineering News formula because of its inaccuracy and have gone to wave equation analyses. Those that have done so have indicated that they are now obtaining better correlation between predicted capacity and pile load test results, and are happy with the change. Several studies can be found in the literature in which the accuracy of different pile driving formulas is compared. These studies show that no one equation is best, although the Hiley, Janbu, Pacific Coast Uniform Building Codes, Rabe, and Gates formulas appear to be somewhat better than the other major formulas. The Engineering News and Modified Engineering News formula are consistently among the worst in these comparisons, with the exception of one study which concentrated on data from Alabama and surrounding states. In that study the Engineering News equation was found to give the best correlation with pile load test results of the formulas used.

In studies which included wave equation analyses, this method consistently was shown to be equal to or better than the best formulas. All investigators who included a wave equation analysis in their study suggested its use by practicing engineers. Significant advancements have been made in wave equation analysis computer codes since some of these comparisons were conducted; therefore, it is apparent that this method represents a significant improvement over dynamic formulas. Although it will always take more training and some additional time to use wave equation methods, its complexity has been reduced significantly by the appearance of wave equation software for use with microcomputers.

A pile analyzer can produce very accurate estimations of pile capacity. However, a pile analyzer is relatively expensive to purchase and maintain and requires highly trained individuals to interpret the data it collects. Unless there is enough pile driving activity to keep a pile analyzer crew busy during much of the year, it may be preferable to hire outside contractors to perform pile analyzer work when necessary.

#### CONCLUSIONS

A review of literature has shown that only a few of the hundreds of pile driving formulas which have been developed over the past 150 years are actually used today. Among the few that are in use, no one formula is clearly superior to all the others. Studies of wave equation analysis methods, including pile analyzers, are more consistent. There is little doubt that these methods are superior to all formulas.

A survey of state transportation departments show a heavy reliance on the Engineering News formula in both its original and modified forms. However, there appears to be a trend away from Engineering News toward wave equation methods and the pile analyzer.

With regard to the practice of the Washington State Department of Transportation, the following conclusions are made:

- 1. The Engineering News Formula in both its original and modified versions is very inaccurate and its use should be discontinued.
- 2. It is likely that a substitute formula can be found which will provide greater accuracy. The formulas which appear to be best suited for WSDOT are the Hiley, Gates, Janbu, and Pacific Coast Uniform Building Code.
- 3. It is not possible, without additional research, to determine which of the suggested formulas will prove best for Washington State conditions.
- A wave equation analysis is clearly superior to formula use and its expanded use by WSDOT is strongly encouraged.
- 5. Pile analyzers can provide useful information on large projects, but may not be well suited to routine use by WSDOT.

# RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The results of this investigation indicate that current WSDOT procedures can be improved. The Engineering News formula should be replaced by a more accurate formula to be used on small pile driving jobs. Increased use of wave equation analyses is strongly recommended, and for the largest jobs a pile analyzer should be used. To fully implement these recommendations, additional research will be required as discussed below.

- In order to pick the pile driving formula which is best suited for Washington State, data from old pile load tests should be examined. Whenever possible, calculations of predicted failure load based on various formulas should be compared to actual test results.<sup>1</sup> WSDOT files and those of local consultants and municipalities should be examined to build a sufficiently large data base to perform statistical analyses. It is probable that modifications of an existing formula to better fit the data (c.f. 19) could be accomplished.
- 2. Studies should be conducted on new projects in which capacity predicted by various formulas, a wave equation analysis, and pile analyzer predictions are compared to pile load test results. This will help to evaluate the practical aspects of the use of each of these methods and provides a better test of their accuracy.
- 3. Successful application of wave equation methods requires correct modelling of soil conditions, such as the selection of the side and tip damping constants. Studies are required to determine

Recommended formulas are: Hiley, Janbu, Gates, and Pacific Coast Uniform Building Code.

appropriate values for typical soil conditions throughout the State of Washington.

#### INTRODUCTION

Pile foundations frequently are used to support bridges and other transportation structures. In order to provide a safe, yet economical pile foundation, it is necessary to use design methods which can predict with reasonable accuracy the necessary depth of penetration and the resultant capacity of a given pile. Because soil conditions often vary significantly over a construction site, methods are needed which allow verification of the design penetration during pile driving and, if necessary, adjustment of the design value. Also, an in-situ method of determining actual pile capacity, as driven, is needed. Many methods have been developed during the past 100 years to accomplish each of these tasks. Currently there is no one method which generally is accepted as the best for any of the three. Differences, even between two widely used and accepted methods, can be very large.

In order to determine if significant improvements can be made in their methods of construction control of pile driving and estimation of pile capacity, the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) has funded the first phase of a three-phase project entitled "Development of Guidelines for Construction Control of Pile Driving and Estimation of Pile Capacity." This report presents the results of Phase I.

The objective of Phase I is to provide a state-of-the-art report which includes the following:

- A description of the formulas and analysis techniques currently available to determine pile cut-off criteria and static pile capacity.
- 2. A description of the strengths and weaknesses of the most promising methods described in (1), in light of WSDOT needs.

- 3. A determination of whether or not current WSDOT methods can be significantly improved.
- 4. If significant improvement is deemed possible, a recommendation of whether or not additional research is necessary before new criteria can be established.

To accomplish these tasks, a survey of other state transportation departments was conducted to determine methods currently in use. Also, a review of the technical literature concerning dynamic formulas, wave equation methods, and pile analyzers was conducted with the help of the WSDOT library. Approximately 200 references were received and reviewed. Based on this literature, a discussion of dynamic methods of estimating static pile capacity (equations, wave analysis, and analyzers) is presented in the following section. Included in this section is an evaluation of the strengths and weaknesses of each of the methods described. In the next section, the current practices of other state transportation departments are described and compared to current WSDOT procedures.

The next section reviews published comparisons between actual pile load test results and pile capacity predicted by various formulas, wave equation methods, and pile analyzers. This information, along with the information provided by the various state transportation departments, provide the bulk of the data used to formulate the conclusions and recommendations of this report.

## DESCRIPTION OF AVAILABLE METHODS

## Dynamic Pile Driving Formulas

Dynamic pile-driving formulas have been available for over 160 years to predict the static bearing capacity of piles. Smith (25) states that in the early 1960s the editors of <u>Engineering News-Record</u> had 450 dynamic pile formulas on file. All these formulas are based on the assumption that the ultimate capacity of the pile under static loading is directly related to the driving resistance of the pile in its last stages of embedment.

The stress-strain relationship in a pile during driving is extremely complicated, making an exact theoretical treatment impractical. A small percentage of the available pile-driving formulas are empirical in their entirety; however, most formulas are based on Newton's law of impact and conservation of energy principles and are modified to account for energy losses during impact and during the propagation of stresses. An inherent discrepancy involved in using impact laws in pile-driving formulas is that Newton himself (6) said that the impact theory should not be used for "bodies . . . which suffer some such extension as occurs under the strokes of a hammer." It is evident, therefore, that Newton did not intend for the impact theory to be used on pile driving type problems, making one wonder how the use of impact laws affects the accuracy of pile driving formulas.

In 1859, Redtenbacher proposed the following formula that Jumikis (14) terms the "pure, classical, complete dynamic pile-driving formula":

$$e_{h}E_{h} = R_{u}S + e_{h}E_{h}\left[\frac{w(1 - n^{2})}{w + w}\right] + \left[\frac{R_{u}^{2}L'}{2A'E'} + \frac{R_{u}^{2}L}{2AE} + KR_{u}\right]$$
(1)  
1 2 3 4 5 6

where

1 = total applied energy

2 = useful work, i.e., energy used to move pile a distance s

3 = loss in impact

4 = loss in cap due to elastic compression

5 = loss in pile due to elastic compression

6 = loss in soil due to elastic compression plus other losses. The definition of individual terms is given in Table 1.

Equation (1) can be solved for the ultimate bearing capacity, R, and then the safe bearing capacity of the pile,  $R_f$ , can be determined by dividing R by a factor of safety, F.

Except for those formulas based entirely on empirical results, all other dynamic pile-driving equations are simplifications of Redtenbacher's complete formula produced by introducing different assumptions on the energy loss terms. An example is a formula commonly known as Redtenbacher's formula, in which a completely inelastic impact is assumed (n=0). This formula is given in Table 1. Also shown in Table 1 are other commonly used dynamic pile driving formulas, several of which are discussed in detail below.

#### Engineering News-Record

This formula was published in 1888 by A.M. Wellington, editor of <u>Engineering News</u>, and originally was developed for use in measuring the bearing capacity of light-weight timber piles with fairly uniform penetration driven by drop hammers. The formula, as shown in Table 1, was modified for use with steam hammers. Wellington derived the equation by equating the applied energy to the energy obtained by graphically

lable I. Commonly used D	commonly used bynamic File briving Formulas			
Formula Name	Equation	Reference Number	Year	Recommended Safety Factor
Eytelwein (Dutch)	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s\left(1 + \frac{w}{W}\right)}  (drop hammers)$	(15) (3)	1820	Q
	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s+0.1 \frac{W}{W}}$ (steam hammers)			
Weisbach	$R_{u} = -\frac{sAE}{L} + \sqrt{\frac{2e_{h}E_{h}AE}{L} + \left(\frac{sAE}{L}\right)^{2}}$	(15)	1850	
Redtenbacher	$R_{u} = \frac{AE}{L} \left[ -s + \sqrt{s^{2} + e_{h}E_{h} \cdot \frac{W}{W+W} \cdot \frac{2L}{AE}} \right]$	(15) (2)	1859	m
Engineering News-Record (ENR)	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s+z}$	(18) (15) (3)	1888	Q
Navy-McKay	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s \left(1 + 0.3 \frac{w}{M}\right)}$	$\binom{3}{(15)}$		
Gates	R <sub>u</sub> = 27 √e <sub>h</sub> E <sub>h</sub> (1 - log s) e <sub>h</sub> = 0.75 for drop hammers	$\binom{3}{(15)}$	1957	m
	e <sub>h</sub> = 0.85 for all other hammers R <sub>u</sub> (kips), s (in), E <sub>h</sub> (ft-kips)			

Table 1. Commonly Used Dynamic Pile Driving Formulas

Formula Name	Equation	Reference Number	Year	Recommended Safety Factor
Rankine	$R_{u} = \frac{2AEs}{L} \left[ 1 + \frac{e_{h}E_{h}L}{s^{2}EA} - 1 \right]$	(15)		
Hiley	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s + \frac{1}{2}(c_{1}+c_{2}+c_{3})} \frac{W + n^{2}W}{W + W}$	(19)		ę
Janbu	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{k_{u} s} \qquad K_{u} = C_{d} \left[ 1 + \frac{1 + \frac{\lambda}{C_{d}}}{1 + \frac{1}{C_{d}}} \right]$	(٤)	1951	3-6
	$C_{d} = 0.75 + 0.15 \frac{W}{W}$ $\lambda = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}L}{2}$			
Pacific Coast Uniform Building Code (PCUBC)	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h} \cdot \frac{W + KW}{W + W}}{s + \frac{RL}{R}}  K = 0.25 \text{ for}$ steel piles $s + \frac{RL}{AE} = 0.10 \text{ for all}$ other piles	( 3) (18)		4
Gow	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s + z \cdot \frac{w}{W}}$	(19)		

11

Table 1. Continued

Table 1. Continued

Formula Name	Equation	Reference Number	Year	Recommended Safety Factor
Danish	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s + \frac{e_{h}E_{h}L}{2AE}}$	(19)	1967	3-6
Rabe	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s+C} \cdot \frac{w}{w+\frac{W}{2}} \cdot B$	(15)	1946	2
Modified ENR*	$\frac{e_{h}E_{h}}{s+z} = \frac{W_{h} + n^{2}_{W}}{W_{h} + w}$	(18)	1965	Q
Canadian National Building Code	$R_{u} = \frac{e_{h}E_{h} \cdot \frac{W + n^{2}(0.5W)}{W + W}}{s + \frac{R}{2A} \left(\frac{L}{E} + 0.0001\right)}$	( 3)		ε
* There are several for	There are several formulas that are modifications of the ENR formula and are known as Modified ENR.	VR formula and are known a	as Modif	ied ENR. The

Modified ENR presented here was proposed by the Michigan State Highway Commission in 1965.

NOTE: To be consistent, the net hammer energy is given in all equations as e<sub>h</sub>E<sub>h</sub> even though many of the formulas were developed for drop hammers where the hammer energy is given by Wh. No units are given for any terms (except for empirical formulas) so that any consistent set of units can be used.

Table 1. Continued

- A = cross-sectional area of pile
- A' = cross-sectional area of cushion block
- = static supplement factor in Rabe's formula (see (27) for clarification) 8
- (27) for = temporary compression loss in the cap, pile, and soil; used in Rabe's formula (see clarification) ں
  - $C_1, C_2, C_3 = coefficients for Hiley equation$
- eh = efficiency of striking hammer (<1.0)</pre>
- E = Young's modulus of elasticity of pile
- E' = Young's modulus of elasticity of the cushion block
- Eh = manufacturer's hammer energy rating
  - F = factor of safety
- h = height of free fall of hammer
- = a coefficient to account for elastic compression plus other losses in Redtenbacher's classical formula  $\mathbf{x}$
- L = length of pile
- L' = axial length of cushion block
- n = coefficient of restitution
- $R_{u}$  = ultimate bearing capacity of pile in soil
- RF = safe bearing capacity of pile
- s = pile penetration for last blow, also called "set"
- w = weight of pile
- M = weight of hammer
- = 0.1 for steam hammers; 1.0 for drop hammers

integrating the area under typical load-settlement curves for timber piles driven by drop hammers, and all the losses are taken into account by a single factor, z. Usually  $e_h$  is assumed equal to 1 when using the ENR formula.

This formula probably is the most widely used dynamic pile-driving formula currently in use in the United States, mainly because of its simplicity and the fact that it is easy to use. However, several investigators have noted the extremely wide range of safety factors determined when using this formula (e.g., 1,5,19,27). This should not be surprising due to the simplicity of the formula and the way in which it was developed. Details of field studies which report comparisons between pile capacity predicted by the Engineering News formula (and other formulas) and pile load test results are presented in the section titled "Comparative Studies."

#### Hiley

Olson and Flaate (19) reported that Hiley developed his formula in an attempt to eliminate some of the errors associated with the theoretical evaluation of energy absorption by a pile-soil system during driving. The factor 1/2 ( $C_1+C_2+C_3$ ) is analogous to the factor Z in the ENR formula.  $C_1$  represents the peak temporary elastic compression in the pile head and cap. Chellis (5) has compiled values of  $C_1$ . The factor  $C_2 + C_3$  represents the combined temporary compression of pile and supporting ground and is based on field measurements. The Hiley formula is used extensively in Great Britain and in Europe.

## Eytelwein (Dutch)

The Eytelwein formula was developed at a time when steel and concrete piles were being used more frequently in place of timber piles, resulting in heavier piles and concomitant higher driving energies. Combinations of either a light hammer and a heavy pile or a heavy hammer and a light pile resulted in values of s that yielded widely varying results when the ENR formula was used. The ENR formula was modified in an attempt to account for this variation by adding an expression for the relative weights of pile and hammer. This modified form of the ENR is known as the Eytelwein formula.

A problem develops when this formula is used for piles driven by drop hammers where the pile set, s, is small. Note from the formula for drop hammers shown in Table 1 that as s approaches zero, Ru approaches infinity. This obviously is not possible, and indicates that the predicted ultimate capacity is too high for small values of s.

## Janbu

This formula does not directly involve the law of impact. Janbu factored a series of variables that are difficult to evaluate out of the conservation of energy equation and combined them in his driving coefficient,  $C_d$ . The driving coefficient includes terms representing the difference between static and dynamic capacity, the rate of transferral of load into the soil with respect to depth, and hammer efficiency and is correlated with the ratio of the weight of the pile to the weight of the hammer. The overall factor,  $K_u$  modifies the driving coefficient by a term that includes  $\lambda$ , which incorporates the length and cross-sectional area of the pile, Young's modulus for the pile, the hammer energy, and the pile set.

#### Danish

Sorensen and Hansen (26) based the Danish formula on a study done using dimensional analysis, statistical analysis, and by simplifying some of the more complicated formulas. Their analysis was predicated on the following rationale taken directly from their report:

Due to the fact that all the practical formulae are fundamentally wrong on several points, it cannot be assumed or even expected that the best formula is the one that considers the greatest numbers of energy losses or appears to be the most comprehensive. The only criterion by which any sound judgment can be made is the statistical analysis of the agreement between formula and load tests, and if simplicity can be combined with accuracy, so much the better.

#### Gates

The Gates formula is a strictly empirical relationship between hammer energy, final set, and test load results. It was developed by applying a statistical adjustment (based on approximately 100 load tests) to a significantly simplified form of existing equations. In his report, Gates (7) did not include the data on which his study was based and did not give an indication of the amount of scatter. It seems, however, that all soil types were included in the study.

#### Rankine

The Rankine formula is a special case of Redtenbacher's classical formula in which the impact is considered to be perfectly elastic (n=1) and

.

the pile is considered to be supported entirely by friction. Therefore, Rankine's formula is the opposite limit expression from the Redtenbacher's formula shown in Table 1 in which the impact is considered to be perfectly inelastic (n=0).

### Gow

Based on experience and intuition, the Gow equation was developed by adjusting the denominator of the ENR formula to represent the extra energy-absorbing characteristics of precast concrete piles.

#### Rabe

Rabe's formula is empirical, but is more complex than other empirical formulas. It is a combination static and dynamic formula that accounts for soil conditions as well as most of the other factors that influence pile capacity.

This formula can be cumbersome to use because to solve it requires extensive computation and several trial estimates of load. It is necessary to perform many of the computations prior to driving; otherwise, it becomes difficult to use in the field.

# Modified Engineering News-Record (Michigan)

This is one of many so-called Modified ENR formulas. This version was proposed in 1965 by the Michigan State Highway Department (18) as the product of an extensive study to compare the efficacy of several dynamic formulas to predict bearing capacity of piles.

This version modifies the ENR formula by multiplying it by the factor

17

 $\frac{W+n^2w}{W+w}$ 

which gives a ratio of combined ram-pile kinetic energy before and after impact. This factor, when multiplied by the initial energy,  $e_h E_h$ , defines the available energy after impact.

### Wave Equation Analysis

The problems associated with using dynamic pile-driving formulas to predict static bearing capacity of a pile are numerous. Many difficulties stem from the fact that pile driving is not a simple problem that can be solved by the direct application of Newton's laws (6). With the exception of Rabe's formula, none of the other formulas listed in Table 1 even attempt to account for the soil types and soil conditions into which the Other problems develop from the simplifying pile is being driven. assumptions made in accounting for energy losses in the system. Empirical formulas only can be used in restricted applications because they generally are developed for specific pile types, driving equipment, soil types and conditions and are of limited general use. Evidence for this can be found in the "Comparative Studies" Section of this report where the results of studies comparing formula predictions of ultimate capacity to the results of pile load tests are presented. The ASCE Manual of Engineering Practice (2) gave the following words of caution in 1946 about the use of dynamic pile-driving formulas:

Experience has shown that (dynamic pile-driving formulas) cannot be relied on when used indiscriminately but should be used with discretion, particularly in light of experience gained at the site. Because of the uncertainities involved, the misapplication or misuse of these formulas by those with insufficient experience, and the unreliable behavior even when they have been intelligently used, no pile formula is recommended in this manual.

An alternate method of predicting static bearing capacity of piles involves analyzing the longitudinal wave transmission in piles by the wave equation. A wave equation computer program allows the user to predict the driving stresses induced in a pile for any blow of the hammer, to determine the resulting motion of the pile during the impact, and to determine the resistance of soil at the time of driving. This information allows the engineer to determine the compatibility of the driving equipment with the pile type, size, and soil conditions. From a theoretical standpoint, the wave equation models the development of bearing capacity in a pile driven into soil much more accurately than Newton's impact laws, which form the basis of most dynamic pile-driving formulas. However, analytical solutions to the wave equation for piles are not available due to the complex nature of pile-driving problems. The only solutions to this problem currently available are based on numerical methods.

The first person to publish a discussion of the wave action that occurs during the driving of piles was Isaacs in 1931 (14). Glanville et al. (8) published a solution in 1938 of the wave equation applied to pile driving; however, the value of his solution was diminished by the number of simplifying assumptions necessitated by the unavailability of computers at that time. It was not until the early 1960s that the wave equation method first was put into practical form by Smith (25) in his classical paper. Further research and development by others has produced the many computer programs now available to analyze pile driving by wave equation methods.

Smith's solution (25) consists of using a finite-difference method to numerically model the wave equation, thereby calculating the pile set for a given ultimate load. A graphical representation of his idealized model is

shown in Figure 1, wherein the ram, cap block, pile cap, pile, and soil resistance are idealized as discrete elements consisting of weights, springs, and dashpots.

Because they usually are short, heavy, rigid objects, the ram and the pile cap are represented as individual weights without elasticity. The ram and pile cap are shown in Figure 1 as  $W_1$  and  $W_2$ , respectively. In contrast, the capblock is idealized as a spring (K<sub>1</sub>) because it is a relatively short, light, springy item made of wood, plastic, or other similar material.

The pile, although heavy, generally is long and therefore somewhat compressible, making it subject to wave action when struck by the ram. The wave action is simulated mathematically by separating the pile into discrete units, where the mass of each unit is represented by an individual weight ( $W_3$  to  $W_{12}$ ) and the elasticity of each unit is represented as an individual spring ( $K_2$  to  $K_{11}$ ). The motion of each unit is determined as though it is a separate and distinct object. However, care must be taken to select a unit length significantly smaller than the wavelength of the impact wave produced in the pile; otherwise, this numerical method will break down.

Smith's soil model consists of a system of external springs and dashpots and is fairly complicated. Therefore, only a brief discussion will be presented here. Further details can be found in Smith (25). The soil resistance acting on a pile can be divided into two parts--the bearing resistance at the bottom of the pile and the frictional resistance along the sides of the pile. Smith's model analyzes both the point resistance and the side resistance in terms of three factors:



Figure 1. Smith's (25) Lumped Mass Pile Model.

- 1. Elastic ground compression (also called "quake").
- 2. Ultimate ground resistance.
- 3. Viscous damping based on a damping constant.

However, the analysis of the point resistance differs from the analysis of the side resistance in the value of the damping constant used, with the damping constant for the point resistance being larger than that for the side resistance. This difference accounts for the fact that as the pile is driven downward, the soil under the pile point is displaced rapidly, whereas the soil along the side is not. A useful and versatile facet of using a numerical wave equation solution is that the soil resistance can be distributed over the full length of the pile in any manner that best represents the soil conditions at a particular site.

Once the system is completely discretized (i.e., the pile is divided into segments with the appropriate spring constant and soil resistance), it can be analyzed in a series of separate time intervals. The ideal time interval would be that which would allow the stress wave to just travel from one element into the adjacent element. This is not possible, however, from a practical standpoint because the speed of the wave varies while the time interval remains constant. The best practical time interval to use is the largest that will result in a completely stable numerical solution. Unfortunately, there is no simple rule that governs all possible situations, but Smith (25) gives criteria to use as guidelines. It is important to note that the required time interval is related to the length of the pile element chosen--the smaller the pile unit length selected, the smaller the time interval must be.

Since the publication of Smith's paper in the early 1960s, a multitude of computer programs have been written that use a numerical model of the wave equation to analyze the pile driving problem. Some of these programs incorporate finite element methods rather than finite difference methods. Two programs are of special interest to this report and will be discussed hereinafter.

A wave equation was developed by Hirsch et al. (12) in the early to mid 1970s for determining the dynamic behavior of piles during driving. This program, commonly known as the TTI wave equation program, was developed by the Texas Transportation Institute, under the auspices of the Federal Highway Administration. The TTI program was intended for general practical use by highway departments and was meant to assist highway departments in the understanding, use, and practical application of pile driving analysis by the wave equation. For many years, the TTI program probably was the most widely used wave equation program in the United States.

In the late 1970s and early 1980s, a wave equation program known as WEAP (Wave Equation Analysis of Piles) was developed by Goble and Rausche (10) under contract to the Federal Highway Administration. The motivation for the development of the WEAP program came from problems the New York Department of Transportation (NYDOT) encountered when they attempted to incorporate the TTI wave equation program into their pile driving practice. NYDOT experienced serious problems when TTI was used for piles driven by diesel hammers, in that unrealistic values of driving stresses sometimes were obtained. The WEAP program improved upon the TTI program by analyzing piles driven by diesel hammers using a thorough model of both the thermodynamic and mechanical hammer operation. WEAP also improved and refined existing techniques for wave analysis of piles driven by air-steam hammers. Many highway departments and private contractors have switched from the TTI program to the WEAP program for wave equation analysis of piles.

#### Pile Analyzer

Two major shortcomings of most dynamic pile analyses are the uncertainty of the actual energy applied by the hammer to the pile during driving and the distribution of soil resistance along the pile. Research begun in 1964 at Case Western Reserve University under Goble initially concentrated on using electronic equipment to measure force and acceleration at the top of the pile for each blow of the hammer so that the actual applied energy could be determined. Using these data, they were able to relate their dynamic measurements to static bearing capacity using a single force-balance theory (11). Static bearing capacities predicted by the proposed theory were compared to model pile load tests, full scale load tests, and load test results conducted in Michigan (18), with the results indicating that the method showed promise as a means of predicting static bearing capacity of piles.

A later study extended the application of the force and acceleration methods to the calculation of the distribution of soil resistance along the pile (24). The prediction of the magnitude of dynamic soil resistance is an important factor in choosing efficient hammer characteristics. In addition, this work used two methods to predict static bearing capacity: (1) an improved version of the force-balance theory discussed above, and (2) a wave equation analysis method. The static capacities predicted by these two methods were compared to load test data, with the result that both methods yielded better correlation with the load test results than any of the energy formulas they used. The best predictions resulted from the wave equation analysis method due to the inclusion of both dynamic and static soil resistance.

A further development using force and acceleration measurements was published in 1979 by Rausche and Goble (23) that suggested a procedure for detecting discontinuities and reductions in cross section at points along the pile below the ground surface. The theory behind this method uses one-dimensional wave propagation considerations to predict the effect that stress waves produced by pile damage would have on the force and acceleration records. The actual force and acceleration records then are examined to see if evidence of pile damage exists.

A major drawback in the early use of this electronic measuring equipment was that personnel well trained in electronics were required to operate the equipment in order to achieve usable results (9). In order to make this method feasible for routine use in the field, special purpose computers were designed and constructed to perform all necessary computations in the field and display the results. This equipment has been changed and improved through the years and now is available to anyone who is interested from Pile Dynamics, Inc., a privately owned company. The proprietary name of this equipment is the Pile Driving Analyzer, but it is more commonly known as the pile analyzer or the "Goble" analyzer.

### Discussion of Methods

The three general methods of construction control and estimation of pile capacity discussed above each have their own advantages and disadvantages. Driving formulas, still perhaps the most popular method, are very easy to use. In their simplest form, only a measure of the permanent set under a single blow of the hammer is needed to predict capacity. Tables can be compiled for some of the formulas (such as Engineering News), so that no calculations are required. This has tremendous advantage because it means that determinations of pile capacity can be made in the field very quickly by field personnel. It is likely that this is the main reason for the popularity of formulas, especially the Engineering News formula.

The simplicity of most pile driving formulas leads to the major disadvantage--inaccuracy. As discussed later, the use of a pile driving formula exclusively can lead to dangerously low safety factors or uneconomically high ones. The difficulty with using formulas is the scatter in the correlation between predicted and actual pile capacity. In order to assure that the actual safety factor obtained is above 1.0, uneconomically high reductions in predicted capacity are needed.

Of the formulas discussed above, most would be suitable for WSDOT use from the point of view of ease of use. The Rabe formula is the major exception, due to the amount of computation required, especially prior to driving. The Janbu formula also involves somewhat more calculation than others, but is not particularly difficult to use. It is felt that all of the others are simple enough to at least consider for use if a formula is to be used in the future.

On the other extreme from dynamic formulas is the pile analyzer. On the negative side, this equipment is relatively expensive to purchase and maintain and requires highly trained individuals to operate it and evaluate the data it provides. Also, the equipment used is reasonably delicate and breakdowns can occur. The advantages are related to accuracy of the method. When properly used, very accurate estimates of pile capacity are

obtained potentially leading to substantial reductions in cost. Also, a pile analyzer can be used to detect pile damage.

A wave equation analysis falls between the other two methods. Its major advantage is increased accuracy over dynamic formulas. The analysis can be used quite successfully to select a pile-cushion-hammer combination to maximize driving efficiency. Also, it can be used to accurately predict stresses which will be encountered during driving. It is sometimes used for these purposes even when other methods are used to estimate pile capacity. The disadvantage is that the analysis requires computer facilities (software is available for use on personal computers) and personnel trained in its use.
### CURRENT PRACTICES OF STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENTS

To assess the current practices of state transportation departments, a letter was sent to each state and the District of Columbia requesting the following information:

- 1. Method(s) used for estimation of pile capacity during design.
- 2. Method(s) used for construction control of pile driving.
- 3. Any comparative studies of various pile driving formulas.
- Any data comparing field load test results with results predicted from formulas or wave equation analyses.
- 5. Has a pile analyzer been used; if so were you satisfied?

Thirty-four responses were obtained from the 50 letters sent out. A list of those departments responding is presented in Table 2. All regions of the country are represented and, although several replies were quite brief, it is felt that on the whole a reasonably detailed picture of current practice has been obtained. The following discussions are based on the responses received.

#### Methods for Estimating Pile Capacity During Design

Answers to this question typically were brief and indicated a general method rather than specific design details. Most states use the results of a subsurface investigation, including soil sampling and laboratory testing, to determine soil properties which then are used in one or more static pile capacity equation. Nordlund's method was cited most frequently as the method used to predict capacity in sand (ID, MI, NV, NY, NM, WI). Other methods cited are those developed by Vesic (NC,PA); Meyerhof (CA); Jaky

AR	Arkansas	NV	Nev ad a
СА	California	NH	New Hamshire
C0	Colorado	NJ	New Jersey
СТ	Connecticut	NM	New Mexico
DC	District of Columbia	NY	New York
FL	Florida	NC	North Carolina
ID	Idaho	ND	North Dakota
IA	Iowa	OK	Oklahoma
KS	Kansas	PA	Pennsylvania
KΥ	Kentucky	RI	Rhode Island
LA	Louisiana	SC	South Carolina
MA	Massachusetts	SD	South Dakota
MI	Michigan	TN	Tennessee
MN	Minnesota	VT	Vermont
MS	Mississippi	WV	West Virginia
MO	Missouri	WI	Wisconsin
NE	Nebraska	WY	Wyoming

.

(CO-for friction piles); Tomlinson (ID, NJ-for fine grained soil); and Thurman (NV-for end bearing). AASHTO standard specifications were cited by six states as the basis for their design (DC, MN, MA, ND, OK, VT-for end bearing); the FHWA method (described in "Soil and Foundation Workshop Manual") by two states (KY, MO), the Naydocks Design Manual by one (CT-for friction piles) and the Bureau of Public Roads method by one (VT-for end bearing). New Hampshire stated that piles were driven to refusal, while West Virginia drives all piles to rock. Other states were more vague, indicating that the design loads came from borings and calculations, experience, set values, load tests; were based on soil properties, or were obtained from a foundation engineer.

Clearly, a wide variety of methods are currently being used with no real favorite apparent. This is not surprising considering the multitude of methods which can be found in the literature.

### Construction Control of Pile Driving

Despite the multitude of dynamic methods available for estimation of pile capacity only a handful appear to be used by transportation department engineers. Based on the response received, several points are clear. First, the Engineering News formula, either in its original form or more often a modified version, is by far the most popular dynamic formula used. Second, wave equation methods, such as the WEAP computer program, are widely used also. Third, use of pile analyzers is growing, but is still not very prevalent.

Table 3 summarizes the responses received. In three cases (DC, LA, NH) the question appears to have been interpreted to refer to alignment control; these responses are not included. Of the remaining 31 responses,

Table 3.		Summary of Responses	nses to Question No. 2:		Methods Used for Construction Control of Pile Driving
State	ENR	Modified ENR*	Wave equation	Pile Load Test	Other/Comments
AR	×				
CA	×			Large jobs	Specified nile tin elevation.
00	×				
ст				×	Many piles driven to refusal
FL		×	To size hammer		
10			WEAP		
10		×		×	
KS	×				
КY			Selected projects	S	
MA	×				On very few occasions consultant hired for
					wave equation analyses
IW		×			-
MM		X			
MS		×		×	
MO		×			
NE					"Dynamic Formulas" did not state which ones
NN				×	Minimum tip elevationNote: ENR abandoned
					due to inaccuracy
CN					"Blow count and depth penetration methods"
WN	×		WEAP, TTI		
٨Y			WEAP		Dynamic Load test (Goble pile analyzer)

•

Table 3.	Table 3. Continued	ued			
State	ENR	Modified ENR*	Wave equation	Pile Load Test	Other/Comments
NC	×				Wave equation methods used to determine
QN	×			·	
оĶ		×			
ΡA			×		Minimum tip elevation
RI			×	×	Recently switched from ENR formula
SC	×			Large projects	Index piles
SD		Х			Test piles
TN	×			×	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
٧T	×			X	Load test on selected piles
٨M					Driven to refusal (20 blows/inch)
IM		×			Pile analyzer also used
٨٨		For end	For friction		
		σ	piles		
		piles			

\*Refers to any modification of ENR formula, each state has a different modification.

10 states replied that they used the ENR formula and 11 states use a modified ENR formula. It should be noted that none of the states which indicated use of the ENR formula actually wrote the equation out, so it is possible that some or all may actually be using a modification of the original ENR formula. Six of the 11 states using a modified ENR formula gave the actual equations they use. Inspection of these formulas showed them to be modifications of the original ENR equation. No two of the states used the same formula. The other five states replied that they used a Modified ENR formula, but did not present the actual equation. One reply stated that "dynamic formulas" are used, but did not state which ones. Based on these responses, it is very clear that despite the multitude of formulas available, state transportation departments use only the ENR formula and modifications of it.

Wave equation methods are used by 10 states. However, Florida uses it only to size the pile driving hammer and North Carolina uses it to determine drivability. Both of these states use an ENR formula for estimation of pile capacity. Wyoming uses wave equation methods only for friction piles.

New York and Pennsylvania both have extensive experience with wave equation methods (PA indicated 10 years experience). Both require a wave equation analysis for all pile jobs. New York uses the WEAP program, Pennsylvania did not indicate the specific method used. Rhode Island and Nevada both stated that they abandoned the ENR formula in favor of wave equation analyses. In the case of Nevada, piles were being overdriven with the ENR formula and correlation with load tests was poor.

New York and Wisconsin are the only two states which indicated that they use a pile analyzer in connection with construction control. On

certain jobs, New York performs their own Dynamic Pile Load Test using the Goble pile analyzer. They have their own equipment and state that they have performed over 100 pile load tests using this method. They find that it is quick and relatively inexpensive compared to static load testing. The Wisconsin reply merely stated that a pile analyzer is used in addition to a modified ENR formula.

# Comparative Studies of Pile Driving Formulas

Twelve states indicated that some comparative studies have been made. Unfortunately, most of the studies cited were either quite old and no data are available, or informal. Only Michigan and South Dakota were able to provide reports documenting their work. A summary of the response from those states which replied in the affirmative is presented in Table 4. Three states volunteered opinions based on informal studies and/or experience. In New York's experience, WEAP is much better than any dynamic equation. In comparing WEAP predictions with the Dynamic Load test results, good agreement is found "for certain soils and hammer types." When the WEAP program is inaccurate, it appears to be due to either the assumed soil resistance distribution or the hammer model in WEAP. Diesel hammers present more problem than other types.

Wyoming's comparisons have shown that the modified ENR formula they use is overly conservative, while Oklahoma found that ENR and "more sophisticated formulas" vary only "under extreme conditions." The results of Michigan's study will be examined in detail in the following section.

State	Response
CO	Only informal comparisons have been made
KA	In a few projects wave equation analysis conducted to confirm present methodsresults not analyzed to date
MI	Extensive comparative studyreference No. 18
MO	Some comparisons made in past, but data not available
NM	ENR and wave equation compared to load test (did not provide details with response)
NY	No formal studies; however, based on their experience they feel WEAP much better than any dynamic formula
ND	Studies were conducted approximately 25 years ago, data not available
ОК	Studies show that sophisticated formulas (compared to modified ENR) not much different except in extreme casesno details provided
PA	Some comparisons between modified ENR and wave equationno conclusions to date
SD	Comparison between ENR and SD formulareference No. 4
WI	Only if very expensive structures or very difficult soil conditions are involved will comparative studies be conducted
WY	Informal comparisons indicate modified ENR overly conservative

,

Table 4. Summary of Responses to Question No. 3: Comparative Study of Pile Driving Formulas

## Comparison of Pile Load Tests Results with Formulas and/or Wave Equation

Most states responded in the negative to this question. Only four referenced published comparisons they had made (AK, LA, MI, SD). However, four are currently conducting tests or analyzing old test results (CA, KS, MS, PA), and one is contemplating a study in the near future (KY). A summary of all the responses is presented in Table 5. Details of the published comparisons will be presented in the following section.

Although the Pennsylvania study is not complete, they did say that they are finding that both the wave equation and pile analyzer underpredict capacity if there is no relaxation. The magnitude of the underprediction varies with the pile hammer system, and appears to be greatest with light piles driven by heavy hammers. They give as an example a Monotube driven with a Vulcan air hammer. They also stated that the driving stresses predicted by wave equation methods (WEAP, TTI) are reasonably accurate.

### Use of a Pile Analyzer

Twelve states indicated some experience with a pile analyzer and three have plans to use one in the near future. Of those using an analyzer, New York and Pennsylvania appear to have the most experience. As discussed above, New York has conducted over 100 Dynamic Pile Load tests with a Goble analyzer and are satisfied with the results. Pennsylvania also is satisfied with their use of an analyzer but state that it underpredicts capacity, although not as much as a wave equation analysis.

Several states (FL, ID, ND, SC) have only very limited experience with the analyzer (typically a FHWA demonstration project). Neither Idaho nor South Carolina were completely satisfied with their use of an analyzer.

State	Response
AK	Comparison of formulas and wave equation with pile load testsReference No. 28
СА	Study in progress comparing states and dynamic load test results with wave equation
10	Some comparisons were attached, but no formal study has been conducted
KS	Study in progress
KY	Future study planned
LA	Comparison of formulas with pile load test resultsReference No. 20
MI	Major study in the 1960sReference No. 18
MN	Limited comparisons have been made, data not available
MS	Data being analyzed
NC	Wave equation analysis compared to field load testsno data presented
РА	Comparisons of static load tests results, wave equation, pile analyzer and static analysis have been conductedanalyses of data in progress
SD	Results of study in Reference No. 4

,

Table 5. Summary of Responses to Question No. 4: Comparative Studies of Pile Load Tests with Formulas and/or Wave Equation

Idaho stated that the analyzer failed to indicate damages which occurred to steel H piles during driving and South Carolina said that results were "uncertain." A summary of responses is presented in Table 6.

### WSDOT Practice

WSDOT practice is similar to that employed by other states. For small pile driving jobs the Engineering News formula is used for estimation of pile capacity and construction control of pile driving. The majority of pile driving projects fit into this category. For larger projects, especially interstate construction, both wave equation analyses and pile analyzers are used. Wave equation analyses are used to qualify pile driving hammers which do not meet standard specifications, and when problems are encountered during pile driving. When a pile analyzer is employed, outside contractors are used, as WSDOT currently has no in-house capability for this type of work. Wave equation analyses, however, are conducted in-house. The feeling that improvements could be made in WSDOT procedures prompted the funding of this research project.

# Discussion

Based on the responses discussed above, it is clear that a large percentage of state transportation departments use the Engineering News formula or modifications to it. What is quite interesting is that no other formula, such as Hiley, Janbu, Gates, etc., is used. The alternative to an Engineering News formula is wave equation analyses and/or pile analyzers. The popularity of the Engineering News formula and its variations stems from its ease of use and tradition. It is one of the oldest formulas and Table 6. Summary of Responses to Question No. 5: Use of a Pile Analyzer

State	Response
СА	Experimenting with the dynamic analyzer and satisfied with results so farintend to eliminate static pile load tests
C0	No use to date, but plan to in the near future
FL	Used on one projectin 1981; did not indicate if satisfied
ID	Used once in FHWA demonstration projectanalyzer failed to indicate damages which occurred in stec H piles during driving
KS	Experimental use planned in 1985
KY	Plan to purchase and use a Goble analyzer in 1985
MN	Some experience in use of an analyzerdo not feel they have expertise to interpret data from an analyzer
NE	Used on several projects with satisfactory results
NV	Not used recently
NY	Performed dynamic pile load test with Goble analyzer, satisfied with results
ND	A limited number of piles tested with an analyzer with satisfactory results
PA	Have used an analyzer and satisfied with results; however they have found it underpredicts capacity
RI	Have used an analyzerand are satisfied with results
SC	Used once with uncertain results
WI	Have been used and are satisfied with results

NOTE: All other states indicated no experience with a pile analyzer.

has been widely used in the United States for decades. Many other formulas, however, also are quite simple to use.

Those states which have abandoned the Engineering News formula have switched to wave equation analyses and/or analyzers and appear to be quite satisfied with the results. These methods clearly are more difficult to implement, and require more highly trained personnel. The intermediate step, using a more sophisticated equation, does not seem to have been implemented, based on the responses received.

### COMPARATIVE STUDIES

Over the past several decades, many researchers have attempted to determine which of the many pile driving formulas is best by comparing formula predictions of pile capacity with pile load test results. Some of the more recent studies have included wave equation analyses and/or pile analyzer predictions. Because of the large number of formulas available, each study has concentrated on only a few of them, usually no more than five or six. To further complicate the problem of determining the best formula, the method of static pile load testing used in each study is different. Also, the amount of information provided on soil conditions, type of pile driving equipment, and selection of variables such as coefficient of restitution or hammer efficiency, varies considerably. At best then, studies such as those discussed below should be used primarily to indicate which formulas appear to be consistently among the better ones. Some information on effects of soil conditions, pile, and hammer type also can be obtained. Perhaps the most useful information is on variability of each formula. It is much better for a formula to consistently either underpredict or overpredict ultimate capacity by a constant ratio rather than to predict the ultimate load on the average but be just as likely to grossly overpredict as underpredict.

One of the older references which cites comparisons between predicted versus measured pile capacity is Chellis (5). He reports the results of comparisons using 45 individual piles in which the static capacity is predicted by the Engineering News, Hiley, a Modified Engineering News, a modified Eytelwein, the Navy-McKay, the Canadian National Building Code (Canadian NBC), and the Pacific Coast Uniform Building Code (PCUBC) formulas. The measured capacity is defined as the load on the net

settlement versus load curve where the "rate of movement begins to increase sharply in proportion to the increase in load." The data include several different types of piles (thin, mandrel-driven corrugated shells, fluted steel shells, pre-cast concrete, wood, and H sections) and hammers (double acting, differential acting, and drop). The author used the ultimate capacity predicted by each formula. Those formulas which provide a working load by incorporation of a safety factor were increased by the safety factor appropriate for each (i.e., Engineering News, Eytelwein, and Navy-McKay formulas were multiplied by 6 and the Canadian National Building Code was multiplied by 3).

The Hiley formula gave the best results, followed closely by the PCUBC and Canadian NBC formulas. The average predicted values of ultimate capacity were 92%, 112%, and 80%, respectively of the measured pile capacities. Of equal importance is the range of predicted values measured as a percentage of actual pile capacity. The Hiley formula produced a range of 55%-125%, the PCUBC formula range was 55%-220%, and the Canadian NBC formula range was 55%-140%. The other formulas were considerably worse. For example, the average and range for the Engineering News formula are 289% and 100%-700%, respectively. A summary of the results is presented in Table 7.

The author reports that for wood piles and fluted steel shell piles (which are lightweight also), the safety factor for the Engineering News formula is often nearer 2.5 than 6. However, for heavier piles and the small sets, the Engineering News, Eytelwein, and Navy-McKay formulas all become more dangerous to use.

The author concludes that the Hiley, Canadian NBC, and the PCUBC formulas provide sufficiently good agreement with load test values to be

used with a safety factor of 2.5-3. He also states "there would not seem to be much point in continued use of the Engineering-News formula, except as a matter of interest in comparing it to results of more modern methods." Table 7. Summary of Results from Chellis (5)

Formula	Ratio of Predicted Load to Measured Ultimate Load (%)		
	Average	Range	
Hiley	92	55-125	
Pacific Coast UBC	112	55-220	
Canadian National Builders Code	80	55-140	
Engineering News	289	100-700	
Modified Engineering News (Michigan Formula)	182	98-430	
Eytelwein	292	90-1800	
Modified Eytelwein	202	98-508	
Navy-McKay		99-∞	

Although use of the modified forms of the Engineering-News and Eytelwein formulas with heavy piles appears to reduce the range of results compared to load tests, these tests do not indicate that sufficient improvement is obtained to justify their use instead of a formula of the Hiley type.

Spangler and Mumma (27) compared the predictions of four formulas (Engineering News, Eytelwein, PCUBC, and Rabe) with load tests on 59 piles. A variety of pile types including H-piles, concrete, timber, Raymond step tapered, and pipe piles were included. The locations of the piles were spread throughout the country and soil conditions varied considerably.

In this study, the authors compared the working load predicted by the formula (for the PCUBC formula the predicted load was divided by 4) with the results of pile load tests and calculated a resulting safety factor. A summary of their results is given in Table 8.

To obtain the ultimate load used in these comparisons, the authors calculated four failure loads for each test and averaged the results. These failure loads were defined as: (a) the load at which net settlement equals 0.25 in, (b) the load at which the incremental gross settlement divided by the incremental load exceeds 0.03 in per ton, (c) the load at which the gross settlement curve breaks and passes into a deep straight tangent, and (d) the load at which the tangents to the early flat portion and the steep portion of the load-settlement curve intersect.

Factor of Safety	EN	Eytelwein	PCUBC	Rabe
Less than 1.0	4	6	0	0
1.0-1.5	10	7	1	1
1.5-2.0	10	7	2	13
2.0-3.0	21	21	12	30
3.0-4.0	7	7	5	13
4.0-5.0	5	7	11	1
5.0-8.0	1	3	20	0
0ver 8.0	0	0	7	0
Average range	.83-5.38	.72-5.49	1.22-9.27	1.3-4.0

Table 8. Summary of Results from Spangler and Mumma (27)

An examination of the data for the Engineering-News formula indicates that all the piles with safety factors under 1.0 had a set of 0.10 inches or less, and those piles with a safety factor below 1.5 had sets of less than 0.25 inches. The authors found no correlation between safety factor and type of pile material or length of penetration; however, friction piles tended to have higher safety factors than end bearing piles.

There was more scatter in the results predicted by the Eytelwein formula, compared to the other three. Like the Engineering-News formula, the worst predictions came from small sets. When the pile hammer was heavier than the pile, safety factors were particularly low. Again, friction piles had higher safety factors than end bearing piles.

The PCUBC formula was found to be most accurate for piles with deep penetration (greater than 45 feet) driven with a heavy hammer. For other cases, uneconomically high safety factors resulted.

The Rabe formula gave the best results of the four with no safety factor below 1.0 and only one above 4.0. As with the other formulas, friction piles had the highest safety factor. There was no apparent correlation between safety factor and pile set, pile type, material or hammer weight ratio. To illustrate the differences among the four formulas, plots of predicted pile capacity vs. measured capacity are shown in Figures 2 to 5. A straight line fit to the data is shown also. The scatter in the Engineering News and Eytelwein formulas is striking. It is considerably greater than in the data from the PCUBC or Rabe formulas.

Agerschou (1) has compared load test results from 171 piles with predicted capacity based on seven different formulas and the wave equation. All of the piles extended into sand or gravel. The failure load is defined as the load at which the total settlment equals 10% of the pile diameter,







Figure 3. Eytelwein Formula predicted pile capacity versus measured capacity based on Spangler and Mumma (27).



Figure 4. Pacific Coast Uniform Building Code Formula predicted pile capacity versus measured capacity based on Spangler and Mumma (27).



Figure 5. Rabe formula predicted pile capacity versus measured capacity based on Spangler and Mumma (27).

Formula	Standard Deviation on log <u>Q failure</u> Q formula	Upper Limit for 96% Safety if Lower Limit is 1.0	Nominal Safety Factor	Number of Load Tests
Engineering News	0.78	26.0	0.86	171
Eytelwein's, from Sorensen and Hansen (26)	0.57	17.0	7.1	78
Hiley's, from Sorensen and Hansen (26)	0.27	3.8	1.4	50
Janbu's, from Sorensen and Hansen (26)	0.25	3.6	2.3	78
Danish	0.30	4.2	2.3	123
Danish from Sor <mark>ensen and</mark> Hansen (26)	0.26	3.8	2.0	78
Wave Equation, as numerically integrated by Sorensen and Hansen (26)	0.23	3.9	2.6	78
Weisbach's	0.36	6.0	2.6	123

•

Table 9. Summary of Statistical Analysis by Agerschou (1)

except for those tests which involved hydraulic jacking. When jacking was used, failure is defined as the maximum load that can be reached by jacking. Statistical evaluations of each formula were performed and are summarized in Table 9. The actual safety factor is expressed by the ratio of failure load to predicted ultimate load; however, the statistical evaluations are performed using the logarithm of the safety factor. In the first column of Table 9, the standard deviation is shown. The Engineering-News and Eytelwein's formulas have by far the largest standard deviation, indicating a great scatter in the safety factors obtained from the use of these equations. The wave equation analysis, although an early implementation not as accurate as current codes, has the lowest standard deviation.

A "nominal safety factor" was computed for each formula. This number is determined mathematically such that if the actual formula prediction is divided by the nominal safety factor to obtain a working load, the ratio of this working load to actual capacity will be less than 1.0 only 2% of the time. In other words if the bearing capacity predicted by the formula is divided by the nominal safety factor, 98% of all piles will have an actual safety factor of 1.0 or more.

Of perhaps more use than the nominal safety factor is the upper limit for 96% safety shown in the second column. If the nominal safety factor is used, 98% of all actual safety factors will be less than or equal to this value. For the Engineering News formula the value is 26, which means that if only 2% of the actual safety factors were allowed to be below 1.0, one would have to accept actual safety factors as high as 26 on some predictions. This clearly shows the scatter in the data and how uneconomical the Engineering News formula can be. The Eytelwein formula is not much better, with an upper limit for 96% safety of 17.0.

Weisbach's formula is in the middle with much lower standard deviation and upper limit than Engineering-News or Eytelwein, but considerably higher than the others. The Hiley, Janbu, and Danish formulas and the wave equation are all roughly comparable.

Mansur and Hunter (17), as part of a larger scope investigation, compared the ultimate capacity based on pile load tests for 12 piles with computed capacities based on the PCUBC, Janbu, and Engineering-News formulas. As did Spangler and Mumma (27), they used the average of four criteria to calculate ultimate capacity. These criteria are: (a) the load on the load-gross settlement curve where the slope equals 0.01 inch per ton, (b) the load on the net movement curve where the settlement equals 0.25 inch, (c) the load where the tangents to the initial and final portions of the load-gross settlement curve intersect, and (d) the load where the slope of the gross movement curve becomes disproportionate to the load applied. The piles included 4 steel pipes, 2 concrete, 2 steel H-piles, and 1 timber pile. Excellent correlation was found between predicted loads and test failure loads for the PCUBC and Janbu equations. Significantly worse results were obtained using the Engineering News formula. The ratio of actual failure load to predicted failure load for both PCUBC and Janbu averaged 1.07, and for ENR, 0.64. The range of ratios for PCUBC, Janbu, and ENR, respectively are 0.85-1.34, 0.88-1.43, and 0.48-0.93. Both PCUBC and Janbu, on the average, underpredict the actual failure load, while the ENR formula overpredicted in all cases by factors ranging from approximately 1.1 to 2.1.

Poplin (20) studied test pile data collected by the Louisiana Department of Highways, concentrating on 14-inch and 16-inch square precast concrete piles. Results of 24 load tests were compared with allowable capacity based on the Engineering News formula and a static soil mechanics analysis. The ultimate load based on load tests was the "load at onset of large displacement" or the load at which 1 inch of settlement occurs. 0n the average, predicted capacity based on static soil mechanics techniques was very close to actual capacity. The average ratio of predicted to actual capacity is 0.964; however, the range is 0.40 to 1.84. The Engineering News formula, in the form which includes a safety factor of 6.0, provided an average safety factor of approximately 2.0 (average predicted to actual capacity = 0.506). The ratio of predicted allowable load to actual failure load ranged from 0.107 to 1.0, corresponding to actual safety factors between 1.0 and 9.4. As with other studies, the extreme variability of the Engineering News formula is demonstrated. Poplin was unable to find any correlation between actual safety factor and either pile weight or pile size.

Kazmierowski and Devata (16) report the results of a pile load testing program undertaken in Ontario, Canada. Five test piles were driven into a soil profile consisting of irregular cohesive layers of clayey silt and granular layers of silt to silty sand with some gravel. The five piles consisted of an H-section with a reinforced top flange, a closed end steel pipe filled with concrete, two precast reinforced concrete piles, and a timber pile. All piles were driven by diesel hammers.

The ultimate capacity of each pile was predicted by the Modified Engineering News formula (Michigan equation), the Gates, Janbu, and Hiley formulas. In addition, a pile analyzer was used to predict ultimate bearing capacity, and to measure the stress and energy developed in the pile during driving. Static analyses also were conducted using Meyerhof's method for the portion of the pile embedded in cohesionless soil and Tomlinson's method for the portion in cohesive soil.

Kazmierowski and Devata calculate the ultimate pile capacity based on three different criteria (M.T.C., Davisson, and Flaate). The three criteria produced reasonably good agreement with a maximum deviation of 31%. Load test results and predicted capacities are shown in Table 10.

Based on these comparisons, the authors conclude that the Hiley, Janbu, and Gates formulas all give acceptable consistency, with the Hiley formula generally predicting the highest capacity and the Gates prediction generally on the low side. The Janbu formula was best for the concrete piles, Gates was best for the pipe and timber piles, while the Hiley equation was closest for the H-section.

Three different estimates of ultimate capacity were made for each pile using the analyzer--an initial field prediction, an initial re-analysis before the load test and a final re-analysis after the load test. These predictions are shown in Table 11 along with the load test results. Except for the longer of the two concrete piles, the field predictions were very accurate. (The consultants who operated the analyzer attributed the large error in the longer concrete pile to incorrect wave speed estimates in the field.) However, since two re-analyses were deemed necessary by the analyzer consultants, it is difficult to have much confidence in the initial values. This brings to home an important consideration concerning use of an analyzer: the results are subject to interpretation and can be very sensitive to the assumptions made.

	с Г а	Pile Load Test Failure Criteria	st ria		Dynamic Formula	Formul	g	Static Formula	Wave Equation
Test Pile Number and Name	M.T.C.	Davisson	Flaate	Hiley	Janbu	Gates	Hiley Janbu Gates M.E.N.F.	After Meyerhoff & Tomlinson	Pile Analyser (Field)
Steel H	400	410		258	232	179	896	470	404
Steel pipe	225	270	230	210	184	216	1465	338	230
Deep concrete	200	188	265	280	206	176	510	568	360
Shallow concrete	ete 225	263	278	383	311	166	593	172	230
Timber	100	88	110	272	217	140	693	140	80

Wave Equation and Load Test Analysis after Kazmierowski
after
Analysis
Test
Load
and
Equation
la, Wave
ทแม
and Static Fo
and
cs of Dynamic evata (16)
of ata
Results of l and Devata
Table 10.

			Ultima	te Bearing Cap (tons	acity Predictions )
Test Pile No.	Pile Type	Load-Test Capacities (tons)	Prior	to Load Test	After Load Test
			(A) Field	(B) Initial Reanalysis	(C) Final Reanalysis
1	12HP74	400	404	400	402
2	Steel pipe 12 3/4" O.D.	225	230	340	230
3	Deep concrete 12" x 12"	200	360	400	242
4	Shallow concrete 12" x 12"	225	230	240	. 235
5	Timber	100	80	100	104

Table 11.	Comparison of Load Test	and Pile Capacity	Analyser	Results after
	Kazmierowski and Devata	(16)		

(A) Actual field analyser predictions obtained at the time of pile driving.

- (B) Adjusted predictions (Class I Predictions) based on driving characteristics of piles and previous experience with analyser results by the Trow Group Ltd. Submitted before load testing operations.
- (C) Second reanalysis of analyser field data as process in the laboratory after the completion of pile loading operations.

Olson and Flaate (19) measured the capacities of 93 piles driven into sandy soils and compared these values with predicted capacities using the Engineering News, Hiley, Gow, PCUBC, Janbu, Danish, and Gates formulas. Several different criteria were used to measure ultimate pile capacity from field tests. The authors state that this results in a scatter in the results of about 15%, but do not provide any specific information on the load test results. They performed linear regression analyses on the data to determine the slope and intercept of a straight line fit and calculated a correlation coefficient. Separate analyses were performed for timber piles (N=37), concrete piles (N=15), steel piles (N=41), and all 93 piles combined. A summary of statistical data they compiled is presented in Table 12. The authors found that in all cases the Engineering News and the Gow formulas were clearly inferior to the others. Janbu's formula was found to be most accurate for timber and steel piles, but no formula was determined to be best for concrete piles. This probably is due to the small number of concrete piles analyzed. The Janbu, Danish, and Gates formulas had the highest average correlation coefficients, although the PCUBC and Hiley formulas were not much lower.

The authors adjusted the three best formulas statistically to fit all observed data. They present three versions of the adjusted Gates formula, one each for timber, precast concrete, and steel piles:

Timber: 
$$Q_c = 7.2 e_h E_h \log (10/s) - 17$$
 (2)

Precast Concrete: 
$$Q_c = 9.0 e_h E_h \log (10/s) - 27$$
 (3)

Steel: 
$$Q_c = 123.0 e_h E_h \log (10/s) - 83$$
 (4)

Pile	Formula	N	А	B, in tons	r
Timber	Engineering News Gow Hiley Pacific Coast Janbu (C <sub>d</sub> = 1) Danish Gates	37 37 37 37 37 37 37 37	0.45 0.37 0.64 0.80 0.98 0.71 1.30	16 18 19 14 9 9 -17	0.28 0.43 0.77 0.74 0.86 0.86 0.86
Concrete	Engineering News Gow Hiley Pacific Coast Janbu (C <sub>d</sub> = 1) Danish Gates	15 15 15 15 15 15 15	0.20 0.32 1.08 1.57 0.66 0.60 1.62	72 69 24 -19 23 11 -27	0.11 0.12 0.43 0.75 0.64 0.69 0.65
Steel	Engineering News Gow Hiley Pacific Coast Janbu (C <sub>d</sub> = 1) Danish Gates	41 41 41 41 41 41 41	0.28 0.28 1.14 1.07 0.91 0.89 2.34	43 42 -10 0 7 -16 -83	0.37 0.38 0.76 0.79 0.83 0.82 0.84
A11	Engineering News Gow Hiley Pacific Coast Janbu (C <sub>d</sub> = 1) Danish Gates	93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93	0.33 0.32 0.92 1.04 0.87 0.77 1.81	37 37 7 2 10 -2 -48	0.29 0.36 0.72 0.76 0.81 0.81 0.81

Table 12. Compilation of Statistical Parameters after Olson and Flaate (19)

where  $e_h$  is the efficiency of the hammer,  $E_h$  is the nominal energy of the pile hammer in inch-tons per blow, s is the average set (in inches per blow) for the final 10 blows of the hammer, and  $Q_c$  is the predicted capacity in tons.

The authors did not use the actual pile hammer efficiencies on their study, as those data were not available to them. They used information on efficiency found in the literature. As they point out "the actual field values of  $e_h$  depend greatly on the condition of the hammer at the time of driving and may differ significantly from the values used in this study." Because of this, the general applicability of their adjusted formulas can be questioned. Their method of analysis, however, appears sound. In areas where a sufficiently large data base is available, the use of adjusted formulas might be very beneficial.

The authors state that similarly adjusted versions of the Janbu and Danish equations should be more accurate than the unadjusted versions, but are somewhat more difficult to use than the adjusted Gates equations. Therefore, they recommend use of the adjusted Gates equations. The accuracy of the adjusted equation, of course, is related to how well the data from this study are representative of all data. The authors state that the number of tests using timber and steel piles gives them "moderate confidence" in these data, however, additional data are needed on precast concrete piles.

Ramey and Hudgins (22) compared pile load test results with predictions by five dynamic equations, a wave equation analysis, and static soil mechanics methods. The load tests were all on piles located in Alabama and adjacent southeastern states. The ultimate capacity was defined as the load at which the slope of the load-settlement curve reached

0.01 inch/kip. The formulas used were the Engineering News, Modified Engineering News, Hiley, Gates, and Danish formulas. A total of 153 pile load tests were used with the following breakdown according to pile type: Steel-H (48), steel pipe (38), precast concrete (32), and timber (35). Forty-eight of the piles were driven into clayey soils, the remaining 105 were driven into predominately sandy soils. Statistical analyses were performed on the data in a manner similar to that done by Olson and Flaate (19). The analyses were broken down into different pile types, hammer energy, and soil type. In reviewing their results, one finding is quite surprising and overshadows all the others. In direct contrast to all other investigations reviewed, the Engineering News formula was found to give the best overall correlation with pile load test results. The Gates formula was almost as good as the Engineering News formula, but the Hiley equation was found to be the worst. Table 13 presents the results of statistical analyses performed on Alabama piles driven in sand. The statistical properties  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , r, and  $S_e$  are, respectively, the intercept and slope of a straight line fit to the data, the correlation coefficient and the standard error of estimates. For a perfect fit, the values of  $\alpha,\ \beta,\ r,\ and\ S_{e}$  would be 0, 1.0, 1.0, and 0, respectively. The data are divided into high energy and low energy hammers because it was found that hammer energy was a significant factor. For the same predicted capacity, steel-H piles driven with low energy hammers consistently have higher failure capacities than those driven with high energy hammers.

While the results described above may be surprising, the comparison of pile load tests with wave equation predictions is in line with the findings of other investigators. The authors found that the wave equation gave consistently better predictions of pile capacity compared to dynamic

Pile Type	Hammer Category		Parameters			
		Dynamic Equation	α	β	r	Se
Steel H	All Hammers	EN MEN Hiley Gates Danish	48.30 67.29 116.61 37.38 39.42	.24 .162 267 .668 .397	.638 .270 193 .292 .349	35.79 44.74 45.60 44.45 43.55
	High Energy	EN MEN Hiley Gates Danish	9.23 38.41 26.03 13.10 15.83	.432 .121 .271 .513 .307	.827 .748 .685 .773 .749	7.83 9.24 10.15 8.82 9.22
	Low Energy	EN MEN Hiley Gates Danish	67.82 65.62 100.02 -9.04 35.40	.191 .314 .094 1.547 .582	.552 .476 .049 .609 .530	40.87 43.09 48.96 38.87 41.55
Precast Concrete	All Hammers	EN MEN Hiley Gates Danish	85.75 41.16 -87.41 -68.83 77.48	.185 .809 2.686 2.293 .360	.830 .805 .844 .822 .850	122.24 129.67 117.41 124.67 115.29
	High Energy	EN MEN Hiley Gates Danish	184.43 160.76 30.39 62.01 171.34	.140 .602 2.201 1.744 .280	.706 .693 .786 .664 .749	140.59 143.08 122.53 148.42 131.40
	Low Energy	EN MEN Hiley Gates Danish	42.14 51.85 57.54 -39.83 55.61	.148 .238 .304 1.439 .175	.480 .412 .287 .581 .297	24.76 26.20 27.54 23.41 27.45

Table 13.	Summary of Regression Analyses Statistical Parameters for
	Alabama Piles in Sands after Ramey and Hudgins (22)

formulas. Table 14 presents a comparison of the wave equation method with dynamic formulas. The authors state that they had little information regarding pile driving accessories, capblocks, or condition of the hammer used, and therefore they expect that the accuracy of their wave equation analyses could be improved. The authors conclude that the wave equation method "should become a valuable tool for the foundation engineer."

Housel (13) presents the data gathered by the Michigan State Highway Department in their study of pile driving. The Engineering News formula and the Modified Engineering News formula predicted copacities were compared to failure loads of 19 test piles. Fourteen of the piles were 12-in (OD) steel pipes filled with concrete and driven closed-end; two were H-piles; three were open-end pipes, two of which were driven in clayey soils and one driven in granular soil.

While the results of the comparison show that the Modified Engineering News formula gives somewhat better results on the average, the authors conclude that: "from the standpoint of a reliable estimate of capacity, the range of variation improved only slightly and there seems to be no practicable way of increasing the formula's accuracy in predicting pile capacity for the great variety of field conditions under which piles must be driven."

In the Arkansas study cited in the previous chapter (28), seven piles were tested and predictions of capacity based on a wave equation analysis and the Engineering News, Hiley, and Danish formulas were compared to pile load test results. The Engineering News formula consistently overpredicted capacity by as much as 900%, while the Hiley formula and the wave equation predictions were quite accurate. The author recommends the use of both the Hiley equation and wave equation analyses.

Pile Type	Prediction Equation	Number of Tests	Standard Error	Correlation Coefficient
Steel-H	Wave	22	34.1	.725
	EN	22	36.2	.683
	MEN	22	49.4	.083
	Hiley	22	47.9	<b>.</b> 259
	Gates	22	48.9	.165
	Danish	22	46.8	.330
Concrete 12" x 12"	Wave	6	6.5	.929
	EN	6	6.9	.906
	MEN	6	10.2	.782
	Hiley	6	13.1	.600
	Gates	6	7.0	.904
	Danish	6	9.9	.797

•

Table 14. Comparison of Wave Equation and Dynamic Equation Statistical Parameters after Ramey and Hudgins (22)
The literature cited above clearly shows that no one formula is consistently better than the others. Even when specific combinations of pile type, hammer, and soil conditions are considered, it is not possible to be sure which formula will be best. It does appear, however, that the Hiley, Janbu, and Gates equations are better on average, than the others examined. The PCUBC formula also gives reasonable estimates of pile capacity. With a single exception, all investigators found the Engineering News and Modified Engineering News formulas to be among the worst.

One of the difficulties in comparing the different studies presented above is that the methods used to determine the ultimate capacity from load tests varies from study to study. It was originally thought that the data from many studies could be combined so that plots similar to those shown in Figures 2-5 could be made and statistical analyses performed. Because of the large differences in load test interpretation, however, it was decided that the results of such an analysis would not be reliable.

All investigators were consistent with regard to wave equation methods. A wave equation analysis of static pile capacity was consistently equal to or better than the best formula predictions. This is despite the fact that old versions of wave equation computer programs were used in many studies, and input information was not always very accurate. It is likely that modern computer codes which include accurate information on specific hammers, combined with good geotechnical data, would compare even more favorably with dynamic formulas.

## PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the literature reviewed and the experiences of other state transportation departments, it appears that current WSDOT practice can be improved significantly. The Engineering News formula has been shown to be very inaccurate in most cases and can lead to both unacceptably high and low safety factors. Replacement of this formula is recommended. From a purely technical point of view, the use of a pile analyzer on all projects probably would be the best solution. The authors feel, however, that this is not practical for several reasons. An analyzer is expensive, difficult to maintain and requires very experienced personnel. For most pile driving jobs the benefits would probably not justify the costs. Scheduling problems could occur if only one analyzer and crew were available and there were several pile driving projects spread out across the state. In those cases where use of a pile analyzer work could be used, as is the case now.

Expanded use of wave equation analysis is recommended with the goal of performing such an analysis on all pile driving projects. This will require training programs for project engineering staff and should be phased in over a period of time.

It is recommended that the Engineering News formula be replaced by one or more of the following: Hiley, Gates, Janbu, or PCUBC. Until such time as the necessary research has been completed, it is not known which of these formulas would be best for Washington soil conditions. However, any one of them should be an improvement.

Final recommendations will have to wait until the proposed research has been completed.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Agerschou, Hans A. Analysis of the Engineering News Pile Formula. JSJFD, ASCE, Vol. 88, SM5, Proc. Paper 3298, October, 1962, pp. 1-11.
- 2. American Society of Civil Engineers. Manual of Practice No. 27: Pile Foundations and Pile Structures, 1946, pp. 24-72.
- 3. Bowles, J.E. Foundation Analysis and Design. Third Edition. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 1982, pp. 638-670.
- 4. Bump, V.L., K.E. Anderson, K.E. Krause, and P.F. Gnirk. Determination of Pile Bearing Capacities. South Dakota Department of Highways, Foundation Section, 1971.
- 5. Chellis, R.D. The Relationship between Pile Formulas and Load Tests. Transactions, ASCE, Vol. 114, Proc. Paper 2369, 1949, pp. 290-320.
- 6. Cummings, A.E. Dynamic Pile Driving Formulas. Journal, Boston Society of Civil Engineers, January 1940, pp. 392-413.
- 7. Gates, M. Empirical Formula for Predicting Pile Bearing Capacity. Civil Engineering, ASCE, Vol. 27, No. 3, March, 1957, pp. 65-66.
- 8. Glanville, W.H., G. Grime, E.N. Fox, and W.W. Davies. An Investigation of the Stresses in Reinforced Concrete Piles during Driving. British Building Research Board, Technical Paper No. 2, D.S.I.R., 1938.
- 9. Goble, G.G. and F. Rausche. Pile Load Test by Impact Driving. Highway Research Record, No. 333, Pile Foundations, Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1970, pp.123-129.
- Goble, G.G. and Rauschce, F. Wave Equation Analysis of Pile Driving. WEAP Program: Vol. 1, Background; Vol. 2, User's Manual; Vol. 3, Program Documentation; Vol. 4, Narrative Presentation (Xerox copy). U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, Offices of Research and Development, Report 76-14.1.
- Goble, G.G., R.H. Scanlan, and J.J. Tomko. Dynamic Studies on the Bearing Capacity of Piles. Highway Research Record, No. 167, Bridges and Structures, Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1967, pp. 46-47.
- Hirsch, T.J., L. Carr, and L.L. Lowery. Pile Driving Analysis--Wave Equation Users Manual, TTI Program. Vol. 1: Background. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. FHWA-IP-76-13.1, April, 1976.
- Housel, William S. Pile Load Capacity: Estimates and Test Results. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 92, No. SM4, Proc. Paper 4861, July 1966, pp. 1-30.

- 14. Isaacs, D.V. Reinforced Concrete Pile Formulae. Transactions of the Institution of Engineers, Australia, Vol. 12, 1931, pp. 312-323.
- 15. Jumikis, A.R. Foundation Engineering. International Textbook Company, New York, 1971, pp. 598-609.
- Kazmierowski, T. and M. Devata. Pile Load Capacity Evaluation: Hwy. 404 Structures. Ontario Ministry of Transportation and Communications, Report EM-20, July, 1978.
- Mansur, Charles I. and Alfred H. Hunter. Pile Tests--Arkansas River Project. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 96, SM5, Proc. Paper 7509, September, 1970, pp. 1545-1582.
- Michigan State Highway Commission. A Performance Investigation of Pile Driving Hammers and Piles. Final Report, Research Project 61 F-60, March, 1965.
- 19. Olson, Roy E. and Kaare S. Flaate. Pile-Driving Formulas for Friction Piles in Sand. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 93, No. SM6, Proc. Paper 5604, November, 1967, pp. 279-296.
- 20. Poplin, J.K. Preliminary Evaluation of Test Pile Records for Highway Structures in Louisiana. Louisiana Department of Highways, Engineering Research Bulletin No. 106, April, 1971.
- 21. Poulos, H.G. and E.H. Davis. Pile Foundation Analysis and Design. John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1980, pp. 52-70.
- 22. Ramey, G.E. and A.P. Hudgins. Modification of Pile Capacity and Length Prediction Equations Based on Historical Alabama Pile Test Data. State of Alabama Highway Department, Bureau of Research and Development, HPR Report No. 75, June, 1975.
- Rausche, F. and G.G. Goble. Determination of Pile Damage by Top Measurements. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 500-506.
- Rausche, F., F. Moses, and G.G. Goble. Soil Resistance Predictions from Pile Dynamics. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 98, No. SM9, Proc. Paper 9220, September, 1972, pp. 917-937.
- Smith, E.A.L. Pile-Driving Analysis by the Wave Equation. Transactions, ASCE, Vol. 127, Part I, Proc. Paper 3306, 1962, pp. 1145-1193.
- 26. Sorensen, T. and B. Hansen. Pile Driving Formulae--An Investigation Based on Dimensional Considerations and a Statistical Analysis. Proceedings, Fourth International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, London, Vol. II, 1957, pp. 61-65.

- 27. Spangler, M.G. and Mumma, H.F. Pile Test Loads Compared with Bearing Capacity Calculated by Formulas. Proceedings, Thirty-Seventh Annual Meeting of the Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1958, pp. 119-149.
- 28. Welch, Robert C. Evaluation of Rapid Pile Load Tests, Final Report Highway Research Project No. 36, Arkansas State Highway and Transportation Department, June, 1978.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

Addis, B. Proof Loading of Foundations. Australian Research Board, Seminar on Bridge Foundations, September, 1981, pp. 1-21.

Agerschou, Hans A. Analysis of the Engineering News Pile Formula. JSJFD, ASCE, Vol. 88, SM5, Proc. Paper 3298, October, 1962, pp. 1-11.

American Society of Civil Engineers. Manual of Practice No. 27: Pile Foundations and Pile Structures, 1946, pp. 24-72.

Aronov, A.M. and Y.S. Gudakov. Evaluating the Bearing Capacity of Driven Piles in Sandy Soils. Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Vol. 14, No. 1, February, 1977, pp. 28-30.

Ashton, W.D. and P.H. Schwartz. H-Bearing Piles in Limestone and Clay Shales. Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, ASCE, Vol. 100, No. GT7, Proc. Paper 10667, July, 1974, pp. 787-806.

Balaam, N.P., H.G. Poulos, and J.R. Booker. Finite Element Analysis of the Effects of Installation on Pile Load-Settlement Behaviour. Geotechnical Engineering, Vol. 6, No. 1, June, 1975, pp. 33-48.

Barends, F.B.J. and H.L. Koning. Pile Driving, a Dynamic Penetration Test? Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, Vol. 1, May, 1982, pp. 223-228.

Bartoskewitz, R.E. and H.M. Coyle. Wave Equation Prediction of Pile Bearing Capacity Compared with Field Test Results. Texas Transportation Institute, Research Report 125-5, December, 1970.

Bartoskewitz, R.E., L.J. Milberger, and H.M. Coyle. Transducers for Measurement of Pile Forces. Texas Transportation Institute, Research Report No. 31-1F, March, 1977.

Bea, R.G., A.R. Dover, and J.M.E. Audibert. Pile Foundation Design Considerations for Deepwater Fixed Structures. Behaviour of Off-Shore Structures, Proceedings of the Third International Conference, Cambridge, MA, Vol. 1, August, 1982, pp. 125-140.

Beringen, F.L., D. Windle, and W.R. Van Hooydonk. Results of Loading Tests on Driven Piles in Sand. Recent Developments in the Design and Construction of Piles, Proceedings of the Conference held at the Institution of Civil Engineers, London, March, 1979, pp. 213-225.

Bowles, J.E. Foundation Analysis and Design. Third Edition. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 1982, pp. 638-670.

Bozozuk, M., G.H. Keenan, and P.E. Pheeney. Analysis of Load Tests on Instrumented Steel Test Piles in Compressible Silty Soil. In Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, (Raymond Lundgren, ed.), American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 153-180. Bredenberg, H. (editor). Application of Stress-Wave Theory on Piles. Proceedings of the International Seminar, Stockholm, June, 1980.

Brenner, R.P. and S. Panichpatananon. Predictions of Pile Behaviour from Dutch Cone Soundings in Bangkok Clay. Penetration Testing. Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, Vol. 2, May, 1982, pp. 463-468.

Brierly, G.S., D.E. Thompson, and C.W. Eller. Interpreting End-Bearing Pile Load Test Results. In Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, (Raymond Lundgren, ed.), American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 181-198.

Bromham, S.B. and J.R. Styles. An Analysis of Pile Loading Tests in a Stiff Clay. Proceedings, First Australia-New Zealand Conference on Geomechanics, Vol. 1, Melbourne, August, 1971, pp. 246-253.

Broms, B.B. and C. Badholms. High Capacity Precast Concrete Piles at Thames Refinery Project. Ground Engineering, Vol. 9, No. 5, July, 1976, pp. 19-23.

Broug, N.W.A. The Quasi-static Penetration Test for Pile Design. Transactions, The Institution of Engineers, Australia, Vol. CE 24, No. 4, November, 1982, pp. 353-359.

Buhr, C.A., L.E. Hoghton, and R.J. Leonard. Design of Friction Piling in Mississippi Embayment Sands Using Cone Penetrometer. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May, 1982, Vol. 2, pp. 487-492.

Bump, V.L., K.E. Anderson, K.E. Krause, and P.F. Gnirk. Determination of Pile Bearing Capacities. South Dakota Department of Highways, Foundation Section, 1971.

Bustamante, M.G. and L. Gianeselli. Adjustment of Pile Design Parameters. In French. Proceedings, Tenth International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Stockholm, June, 1981, pp. 643-646.

Butler, H.D. and H.E. Hoy. The Texas Quick-Load Method for Foundation Load Testing. (Users Manual) D.O.T., F.H.W.A. Report No. FHWA-IP-77-8, 1977.

Buttling, S. Estimates of Shaft and End Loads in Piles in Chalk Using Strain Gauge Instrumentation. Geotechnique, Vol. 26, No. 1, 1976, pp. 133-147.

Carragh, R.D. and R.A. Bell. Load Tests on Long Bearing Piles. Performance of Deep Foundations, ASTM, STP 444, American Society for Testing and Materials, 1969, pp.41-67.

Cheeks, J.R. Analytical Methods to Predict Pile Capacities. In Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 199-208. Chellis, R.D. A Consideration of Pile Driving with Application of Pile Loading Formula. Journal, Boston Society of Civil Engineers, Vol. 28, No. 1, January, 1941, pp. 1-30.

Chellis, R.D. The Relationship between Pile Formulas and Load Tests. Transactions, ASCE, Vol. 114, Proc. Paper 2369, 1949, pp. 290-320.

Chellis, Robert D., Lazarus White, John G. Mason, Carlton S. Proctor, George Paaswell, and Abraham Woolf. Pile-Driving Formulas: Progress Report of the Committee on the Bearing Value of Pile Foundations. Proceedings, ASCE, Vol. 67, No. 8, Part 1, October 1941, pp. 1517-1548.

Clark, J.I., and G.G. Meyerhof. The Behavior of Piles Driven in Clay. II. Investigation of the Bearing Capacity Using Total and Effective Strength Parameters. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 10, No. 1, 1973, pp. 86-102.

Cole, K.W. and J.A. Lord. Factors of Safety. In Piles and Foundations, F.E. Young, editor. The Institution of Civil Engineers, London, 1981, pp. 173-181.

Cooke, R.W. Instrumented Piles and Pile Groups. In Piles and Foundations, F.E. Young, editor. The Institution of Civil Engineers, London, 1981, pp. 166-172.

Coyle, H.M., R.E. Bartoskewitz, and W.J. Berger. Bearing Capacity Prediction by Wave Equation Analysis--State of the Art. Texas Transportation Institute, Research Report 125-8F, August, 1973.

Coyle, H.M. and I.H. Sulaiman. Bearing Capacity of Foundation Piles: State of the Art. Highway Research Record, Highway Research Board, No. 333, Washington, D.C., 1970, pp. 87-103.

Crandall, J.S. Piles and Pile Foundation. Journal, Boston Society of Civil Engineers, Vol. 18, No. 5, May, 1931, pp. 176-189.

Cummings, A.E. Dynamic Pile Driving Formulas. Journal, Boston Society of Civil Engineers, January 1940, pp. 392-413.

Dahlberg, R. and S. Matos. Dynamic Testing and Analysis of Garoupa PGP-1 Piles. Proceedings, Conference on Geotechnical Practice in Offshore Engineering, Austin, Texas, April, 1983, pp. 581-595.

Datta, M. Pore Water Pressure Development During Pile Driving and Its Influence on Driving Resistance. Proceedings, Third International Conference on the Behaviour of Off-Shore Structures, Cambridge, MA, August, 1982, Vol. 2, pp. 295-304.

Davis, J.L. Friction Pile Resistance Study. Oregon Department of Transportation, ODOT 76-4, June, 1976.

DeBeer, E., E. Lousberg, A. DeJonghe, R. Carpentier, and M. Wallays. Analysis of the Results of Loading Tests Performed on Displacement Piles of Different Types and Sizes Penetrating at a Relatively Small Depth into a Very Dense Sand Layer. Recent Developments in the Design and Construction of Piles, Proceedings of the Conference held at the Institution of Civil Engineers, London, March, 1979, pp. 199-211.

DiMillio, A.F. Foundation Engineering Research: Part 2--Pile Foundations. Public Roads, Vol. 48, No. 1, June, 1984, pp. 17-24.

Discussion of Papers 92, 93 and 94. Recent Developments in the Design and Construction of Piles, Proceedings of the Conference held at the Institution of Civil Engineers, London, March, 1979, pp. 245-260.

DuBose, L.A. Load Studies on Drilled Shafts. Proceedings, Thirty-Fourth Annual Meeting of the Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1955, pp. 152-162.

DuBose, L.A. Small-Scale Load Tests on Drilled and Cast-In-Place Concrete Piles. Proceedings, Thirty-Sixth Annual Meeting of the Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1957, pp. 132-145.

Edgers, L. A Model Investigation of Friction Pile Capacities in Silts. Tufts University, State of Vermont Department of Highways, Project HPR-PR-1(4), March, 1970.

Farid, M.U. An Investigation of the Dynamic and Static Stresses in Universal Bearing H-Piles. Ground Engineering, Vol. 12, No. 4, May, 1979, pp. 35-38.

Farid, M.U. Dynamic and Static Stresses. Civil Engineering, Morgan-Grampian Limited (Professional Press), December, 1978, pp. 56-59.

Farid, M.U. Dynamic and Static Stresses in Steel H Piles. In Piles and Foundations, F.E. Young, editor. The Institution of Civil Engineers, London, 1981, pp. 46-58.

Fellenius, B.H. The Analysis of Results from Routine Pile Load Tests. Ground Engineering, Vol. 13, No. 6, September, 1980, pp. 19-31.

Fellenius, B.H. and T. Haagen. New Pile Force Gauge for Accurate Measurements of Pile Behavior During and Following Driving. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 356-362.

Field Tests on Piles in Sand. Soils and Foundations, Vol. 11, No. 2, June, 1971, pp. 29-49.

Firmage, D.A. Tests of Steel Tubular Piles Driven Near Saigon River, Vietnam. Highway Research board Bulletin 242, Washington, D.C., 1960, pp. 28-42.

Flaate, K.S. An Investigation of the Validity of Three Pile-driving Formulae in Cohesionless Material. Norwegian Geotechnical Institute, Pub. No. 56, Oslo, Norway, 1964, pp. 11-22. Forehand, Paul W. and Joseph L. Reese, Jr. Prediction of Pile Capacity by the Wave Equation. JSMFD, ASCE, Vol. 90, No. SM2, Proc. Paper 3820, March 1964, pp. 1-25.

Fournier, J., et al. Parameter Measurements Required to Calculate the Axial Capacity of Piles. Proceedings, Third International Conference on the Behaviour of Off-Shore Structures, Cambridge, MA, August, 1982, Vol. 2, pp. 325-337.

Foye, R., et al. Wave Equation Analyses of Full-Scale Test Piles Using Measured Field Data. Texas Transportation Institute, Research Report No. 125-7, August, 1972.

Fuller, F.M. and H.E. Hoy. Pile Load Tests Including Quick-Load Test Method, Conventional Methods, and Interpretations. Highway Research Record, Highway Research Board, No. 333, 1970, pp. 74-86.

Gardner, S.V. and D.H. New. Some Experiences with Prestressed Concrete Piles. Proceedings, Institution of Civil Engineers, London, Vol. 18, Paper No. 6483, January, 1961, pp. 43-66.

Gardner, N.J. and R. Sage. Mathematical Model of Single Pile. Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, ASCE, Vol. 100, No. GT9, September, 1974, Technical Note, pp. 1081-1085.

Gates, M. Empirical Formula for Predicting Pile Bearing Capacity. Civil Engineering, ASCE, Vol. 27, No. 3, March, 1957, pp. 65-66.

George, A.B., F.W. Sherrell, and M.J. Tomlinson. The Behaviour of Steel H-Piles in Slaty Mudstone. Geotechnique, Vol. 26, No. 1, March, 1976, pp. 95-104.

Gerwick, B.C. Current Construction Practices in the Installation of High-Capacity Piling. Highway Research Record, Highway Research Board, No. 333, 1970, pp. 113-122.

Gillespie, R.W. Pile Load Test in Kootenai Shale. Proceedings, Eighteenth Annual Engineering Geology and Soils Engineering Symposium, Boise, Idaho, April, 1980, pp. 167-178.

Glanville, W.H., G. Grime, E.N. Fox, and W.W. Davies. An Investigation of the Stresses in Reinforced Concrete Piles during Driving. British Building Research Board, Technical Paper No. 2, D.S.I.R., 1938.

Goble, G.G. Analysis of Offshore Pile Driving--a Review. Proceedings, Conference on Geotechnical Practice in Offshore Engineering, Austin, Texas, April, 1983, ASCE, pp. 596-603.

Goble, G.G. Dynamic Studies on the Bearing Capacity of Piles. Proceedings, Twenty-Ninth Annual Ohio Transportation Engineering Conference, April, 1975, pp. 110-125. Goble, G.G. and F. Rausche. Pile Load Test by Impact Driving. Highway Research Record, No. 333, Pile Foundations, Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1970, pp.123-129.

Goble, G.G. and Rauschce, F. Wave Equation Analysis of Pile Driving. WEAP Program: Vol. 1, Background; Vol. 2, User's Manual; Vol. 3, Program Documentation; Vol. 4, Narrative Presentation (Xerox copy). U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, Offices of Research and Development, Report 76-14.1.

Goble, G.G., D. Cochran, and F. Marcucci. Foundation Design and Evaluation for Winnemuca Viaduct. Transportation Research Record, No. 884, 1982, pp. 37-45.

Goble, G.G., K. Fricke, and G.E. Likins, Jr. Driving Stresses in Concrete Piles. Journal, Prestressed Concrete Institute, Vol. 21, No. 1, February, 1976, pp. 70-88.

Goble, G.G., G.E. Likins, Jr., and W. Teferra. Piles and Pile Driving Hammer Performance for H-Piles Driven to Bedrock. Case Western Reserve University, School of Engineering Report No. OHIO-DOT-O1-79, November, 1977.

Goble, G.G., R.H. Scanlan, and J.J. Tomko. Dynamic Studies on the Bearing Capacity of Piles. Highway Research Record, No. 167, Bridges and Structures, Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1967, pp. 46-47.

Graff, W.J., E.M. Gomah, and M.W. O'Neill. Use of Explosives to Enhance Power of a New Design of Pile Hammer. American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Paper No. 77-Pet-80, June, 1978.

Guglielmo, M. Design and Control by Means of Loading Tests of the Bearing Capacity of Some Pile Groups Driven in Silty Clayey Soils. Proceedings, Symposium on Bearing Capacity of Piles, 1964, pp. 51-59.

Hamblin, L.J. Load Capacity of Friction Piles: Estimate Versus Load Test. Proceedings, Western Association of Canadian Highway Officials, 1975.

Hanna, T. Recent Developments in the Design and Construction of Piles. Ground Engineering, Vol. 12, No. 6, September, 1979, pp. 19-29.

Hannah, T.H. The Distribution of Load in Long Piles. Sols Soils, No. 22-23, pp. 5-13.

Hartikainen, J. On the Estimation of the Bearing Capacity of Friction Piles from the Sounding Resistance. Proceedings, Fifth Budapest Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, 1976, pp. 265-282.

Haswell, C.K. and J.B. Burland. The Prediction of Load-Carrying Capacity of Piles. Piles and Foundations, F.E. Young, editor. The Institution of Civil Engineers, London, 1981, pp. 1235-142.

Heerema, E.P. Dynamic Point Resistance in Sand and in Clay, for Pile Driveability Analysis. Ground Engineering, Vol. 14, No. 6, September, 1981, pp. 30-33, 36-37, 46.

Herrema, E.P. Relationships between Wall Friction, Displacement Velocity and Horizontal Stress in Clay and in Sand, for Pile Driveability Analysis. Ground Engineering, Vol. 12, No. 1, January, 1979, pp. 55-65.

Hirsch, T.J. A Report on Computer Study of Variables Which Affect the Behavior of Concrete Piles during Driving. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. 2-5-62-33, August, 1963.

Hirsch, T.J. A Report on Field Tests of Prestressed Concrete Piles during Driving. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. 2-5-62-33, August, 1963.

Hirsch, T.J. Fundamental Design and Driving Considerations for Concrete Piles. Highway Research Record, Highway Research Board, No. 147, Washington, D.C., 1966, pp. 24-34.

Hirsch, T.J., L. Carr, and L.L. Lowery. Pile Driving Analysis--Wave Equation Users Manual, TTI Program. Vol. 1: Background. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. FHWA-IP-76-13.1, April, 1976.

Hirsch, T.J. and T.C. Edwards. Impact Load-Deformation Properties of Pile Cushioning Materials. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. 33-4, May, 1966.

Hirsch, T.J., L.L. Lowery, H.M. Coyle, and C.H. Samson, Jr. Pile-Driving Analysis by One-Dimensional Wave Theory: State of the Art. Highway Research Record, Highway Research Board, No. 333, Washington, D.C., 1970, pp. 33-54.

Holloway, D.M., G.W. Clough, and A.S. Vesic. A Rational Procedure for Evaluating the Behavior of Impact-Driven Piles. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 335-357.

Horvitz, G.E., D.R. Stettler, and J.C. Crowser. Comparison of Predicted and Observed Pile Capacity. Cone Penetration Testing and Experience, Proceedings of a Session at the ASCE National Convention, St. Louis, Missouri, October, 1981, pp. 413-433.

Housel, William S. Pile Load Capacity: Estimates and Test Results. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 92, No. SM4, Proc. Paper 4861, July 1966, pp. 1-30.

Hui, T.W. and C.S. Fatt. Bearing Capacity of Bakau Timber Piles in the Coastal Alluvium of West Malaysia. Proceedings, Fourth Asian Regional Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Vol. 1, July, 1971, Bangkok, Thailand, pp. 317-322. Hunt, H.W. Current Practice in Design and Installation of Driven Piles. Transportation Research Record, Transportation Research Board, No. 665, 1978, pp. 200-208.

Hunter, A.H. and M.T. Davisson. Measurements of Pile Load Transfer. Performance of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 444, American Society of Testing and Materials, 1969, pp. 106-117.

Isaacs, D.V. Reinforced Concrete Pile Formulae. Transactions of the Institution of Engineers, Australia, Vol. 12, 1931, pp. 312-323.

Jumikis, A.R. Foundation Engineering. International Textbook Company, New York, 1971, pp. 598-609.

Kazmierowski, T. and M. Devata. Pile Load Capacity Evaluation: Hwy. 404 Structures. Ontario Ministry of Transportation and Communications, Report EM-20, July, 1978.

Keating, D.J. Test Pile Study: Lovelock-Winnemucca. Nevada State Highway Department, Interim Report, July, 1974.

Knight, C.H., et al. Recommended Practice for Design, Manufacture and Installation of Prestressed Concrete Piling. Journal, Prestressed Concrete Institute, Vol. 22, No. 2, April, 1977, pp. 20-49.

Korb, K.W. and H.M. Coyle. Dynamic and Static Field Tests on a Small Instrumented Pile. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. 125-2, February, 1969.

Kraft, L.M., R.P. Ray, and T. Kagawa. Theoretical t-z Curves. Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering, Division, ASCE, Vol. 107, No. GT11, Proc. Paper 16653, November, 1981, pp. 1543-1561.

Lacy, H.S. Load Testing of Instrumented 225-foot-long Prestressed Concrete Piles. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 358-380.

Lagoni, P. Skin Friction on Piles. Behaviour of Off-Shore Structures, Proceedings of the Third International Conference, Dambridge, MA, August, 1982, Vol. 1, pp. 223-240.

Lambe, W.T. and R.V. Whitman. Soil Mechanics, SI Version. John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1979, pp. 498-513.

Langfelder, L.J. and B. Anderson. Pile Penetration Tests in Regional Soils Common to North Carolina. North Carolina State University, School of Engineering Project ERD-70-1, Final Report, Part 1, September, 1969.

Leonards, G.A. and D. Lovell. Interpretation of Load Tests on High-Capacity Driven Piles. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 388-415. Lizzi, F. An Experimental Approach to the Design of Large Diameter Floating Piles--The Similitude Method. Ground Engineering, Vol. 12, No. 2, March, 1980, pp. 17-25.

Lowery, L.L. et al. Pile Driving Analysis--State of the Art. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. 33-13, January, 1969.

Lu, T.D., J.A. Fischer, and V.G. Miller. Static and Cyclic Axial Load Tests on a Fully Instrumented Pile. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 416-434.

Manning, G.P. Design and Construction of Foundations. Cement and Concrete Association, London, 1972, pp. 19-24, 186-187.

Mansur, Charles I. and Alfred H. Hunter. Pile Tests--Arkansas River Project. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 96, SM5, Proc. Paper 7509, September, 1970, pp. 1545-1582.

Marine Cone Penetrometer System. Ground Engineering, Vol. 11, No. 4, May, 1978, pp. 46-47.

Mazzucato, A. and M. Soranzo. Evaluation of a Routing Design Criterion for Precast Concrete Piles Driven into Low Strength Soil Formations. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May, 1982, Vol. 2, pp. 703-708.

McCammon, N.R. and H.Q. Golder. Some Loading Tests on Long Pipe Piles. Geotechnique, Vol. 20, No. 2, 1970, pp. 171-184.

Meyerhof, G.G. and G. Ranjan. The Bearing Capacity of Rigid Piles Under Inclined Loads in Sand. I: Vertical Piles. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 9, No. 4, November, 1972, pp. 430-446.

Merjan, S. Field Performance of Driven Enlarged-Tip Piles. Transportation Research Record, Transportation Researh Board, No. 517, 1974, pp. 70-76.

Meyerhof, G.G. and V.V.R.N. Sastry. Bearing Capacity of Piles in Layered Soils. Part 1. Clay Overlying Sand. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 15, No. 2, May, 1978, pp. 171-182.

Michigan State Highway Commission. A Performance Investigation of Pile Driving Hammers and Piles. Final Report, Research Project 61 F-60, March, 1965.

Milovic, D.M. Load Test Results of Piles. Proceedings, Fifth Budapest Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, 1976, pp. 369-377.

Mitchell, P.W. and V.V. Nechvoglod. An Application of Dynamic Cone Penetrometers in the Design of Piled Foundations for Bridges. Proceedings, Seventh Conference of the Australian Road Research Board, Adelaide, 1974, Vol. 7, Part 7, pp. 175-186. Mohan, D., G.S. Jain, and S.P. Gupta. Pile Testing Using Raked Underreamed Piles. Ground Engineering, Vol. 12, No. 3, April, 1979, pp. 47-52.

Mohan, D., G.S. Jain, and M.P. Jain. A New Approach to Load Tests. Geotechnique, Vol. 17, No. 3, 1967, pp. 274-283.

Montgomery, M.W. Pile Load Tess to Evaluate Load Transfer Mechanisms. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 451-463.

Morris, F.E. and R.B. Hannant. Some Aspects of the Design and Construction of the 17th July Bridge at Northgate, Baghdad. Proceedings, Institution of Civil Engineers, Vol. 6, Part 1, August, 1979, pp. 437-456.

Mosley, E.T. Test Piles in Sand at Helena, Arkansas: Wave Equation Analysis. Foundation Facts, Raymond International, Inc., New York, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1967, pp. 15-17.

Moss, J.D. A High Capacity Load Test for Deep Bored Piles. Proceedings, First Australia-New Zealand Conference on Geomechanics, Vol. 1, Melbourne, August, 1971, pp. 261-267.

Mure, J.N. and M.L. Kightley. Dynamic Assessment and Control of Piling Operation. Sensors in Highway and Civil Engineering, Proceedings of the conference, London, February, 1981, pp. 19-34.

Olson, Roy E. and Kaare S. Flaate. Pile-Driving Formulas for Friction Piles in Sand. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 93, No. SM6, Proc. Paper 5604, November, 1967, pp. 279-296.

Parker, F., Jr. and L.C. Reese. Experimental and Analytical Studies of Behavior of Single Piles in Sand Under Lateral and Axial Loading. Center for Highway Research, Research Report 117-2, November, 1970.

Peck, R.B. A Study of the comparative Behavior of Friction Piles. Highway Research Record, Highway Research Board, Special Report 36 Washington, D.C., 1958, pp. 1-72.

Peck, R.B. Records of Load Tests on Friction Piles. Highway Research Record, Highway Research Board, Special Report 67, Washington, D.C., 1961.

Perdue, G.W. and H.M. Coyle. In-Situ Measurements of Friction and Bearing Correlated with Instrumented Pile Tests. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. 125-4, June, 1970.

Pile Driving Analyzer. A brochure produced by Pile Dynamics, Inc., 4423 Emergy Industrial Parkway, Cleveland, Ohio, 1983.

Pile Foundations and Pile Structures. Manual of Engineering Practice, ASCE, No. 27, 1946, pp. 24-33 and 59-72.

Pile Hammer Selection a Function of Soil and Type. Construction Methods and Equipment, Vol. 56, No. 2, February, 1974, pp. 97-99.

Poorooshasb, H.B. and R.N. Yong. Plastic-Rigid Analysis of Vertical Piles in Normally Consolidated Clays. Soils and Foundations, Japanese Society of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Vol. 23, No. 2, June, 1983, pp. 1-12.

Poplin, J.K. Preliminary Evaluation of Test Pile Records for Highway Structures in Louisiana. Louisiana Department of Highways, Engineering Research Bulletin No. 106, April, 1971.

Potts, D.M. and J.P. Martins. The Shaft Resistance of Axially Loaded Piles in Clay. Geotechnique, Vol. 32, No. 4, 1982, pp. 369-386.

Poulos, H.G. and E.H. Davis. Pile Foundation Analysis and Design. John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1980, pp. 52-70.

Prellwitz, R.W. Static Analysis of Steel "H" Piles and the Soil "Plug". Proceedings, Nineteenth Annual Engineering Geology and Soils Engineering Symposium, Pocatello, Idaho, April, 1982, pp. 231-246.

Price, G. Field Tests on Vertical Piles Under Static and Cyclic Horizontal Loading in Overconsolidated Clay. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 464-483.

Price, G. and I.F. Wardle. A Comparison between Cone Penetration Test Results and the Performance of Small Diameter Instrumented Piles in Stiff Clay. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May, 1982, Vol. 2, pp. 775-780.

Rabe, W.H. Dynamic Pile Bearing Formula with Static Supplements. Engineering News-Record, Vol. 137, No. 6, December 16, 1946, pp. 868-871.

Rajagopalan, P.R. and J. Prakash. Non-destructive Testing of Pile Foundations. Indian Concrete Journal, Vol. 49, No. 12, December, 1975, pp. 363-365, 377.

Ramage, J. and L.H. Roth. I-205 Columbia River Bridge Foundation Load Test Program. Proceedings, Thirteenth Annual Engineering Geology and Soils Engineering Symposium, Moscow, Idaho, April, 1975, pp. 289-304.

Ramey, G.E. and A.P. Hudgins. Modification of Pile Capacity and Length Prediction Equations Based on Historical Alabama Pile Test Data. State of Alabama Highway Department, Bureau of Research and Development, HPR Report No. 75, June, 1975.

Randolph, M.F. and C.P. Wroth. A Simple Approach to Pile Design and the Evaluation of Pile Tests. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 484-499.

Rausche, F. and G.G. Goble. Determination of Pile Damage by Top Measurements. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 500-506. Rausche, F., F. Moses, and G.G. Goble. Soil Resistance Predictions from Pile Dynamics. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 98, No. SM9, Proc. Paper 9220, September, 1972, pp. 917-937.

Reese, L.C. Design and Evaluation of Load Tests on Deep Foundations. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 4-26.

Rehnman, S.E. and B.B. Broms. Bearing Capacity of Piles Driven into Rock. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 8, No. 2, May, 1971, pp. 151-162.

Samson, C.H., Jr., T.J. Hirsch, and L.L. Lowery. Computer Study of Dynamic Behavior of Piling. Journal of the Structural Division, ASCE, Vol. 89, ST4, Proc. Paper 3608, August, 1963, pp. 413-449.

Scanlan, Robert H. and John J. Tomko. Dynamic Prediction of Pile Static Bearing Capacity. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 95, No. SM2, Proc. Paper 6468, March, 1969, pp. 583-604.

Selby, K.G. Pile Tests at Beech River, Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 7, No. 4, November, 1970, pp. 470-479.

Shroff, A.C. Model Study of Elastic-Plastic Pile Foundation. Proceedings, Eighth Conference on Electronic Computation, Houston, Texas, February, 1983, ASCE, Structural Division, pp. 62-73.

Smith, E.A.L. Pile-Driving Analysis by the Wave Equation. Transactions, ASCE, Vol. 127, Part I, Proc. Paper 3306, 1962, pp. 1145-1193.

Smith, P.D. The Cone Penetrometer for Foundation Design Investigations. New York State Department of Transportation, Research Report 33, November, 1975.

Sorensen, T. and B. Hansen. Pile Driving Formulae--An Investigation Based on Dimensional Considerations and a Statistical Analysis. Proceedings, Fourth International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, London, Vol. II, 1957, pp. 61-65.

Spangler, M.G. and Mumma, H.F. Pile Test Loads Compared with Bearing Capacity Calculated by Formulas. Proceedings, Thirty-Seventh Annual Meeting of the Highway Research Board, Washington, D.C., 1958, pp. 119-149.

Steel and Timber Pile Tests--West Atchafalaya Floodway--New Yorleans, Texas & Mexico Railway. Proceedings, Fiftieth Annual Convention of the American Railway Engineering Association, Vol. 52, Chicago, March, 1951, pp. 149-202.

Steinbach, J. and E. Vey. Caisson Evaluation by Stress Wave Propagation Method. Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, ASCE, Vol. 101, No. GT4, Proc. Paper 11245, April, 1975, pp. 361-378.

Stevens, R.S. Evaluating Pile Drivability for Hard Clay, Very Dense Sand, and Rock. Proceedings, Fourteenth Annual Offshore Technology Conference, Houston, Texas, May, 1982, Vol. 1, pp. 465-481. Super Piles Prove Their Use for Bridge Abutment Foundations. Ground Engineering, Vol. 7, No. 3, May, 1974, pp. 31-33.

Tavenas, F.A. Load Tests Results on Friction Piles in Sand. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 8, No. 1, 1971, pp. 7-22.

Tavenas, F.A. and J.M.E. Audibert. Application of the Wave Equation Analysis to Friction Piles in Sand. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 14, No. 1, February, 1977, pp. 34-51.

Tavenas, F., and R. Andy. Limitations of the Driving Formulas for Predicting the Bearing Capacities of Piles in Sand. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 9, No. 1, February, 1972, pp. 47-62.

Tejchman, A. Skin Friction of a Model Pile Driven in Sand. Bulletin, Danish Geotechnical Institute, No. 29, 1971, pp. 5-26.

Thompson, C.D. and D.E. Thompson. Influence of Driving Stresses on the Development of High Pile Capacities. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 562-577.

Thomson, S. Evaluation of Pile Load Tests in the Edmonton Area. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 18, No. 2, May, 1981, pp. 313-316.

Thorbun, S. and N.W. Buchanan. Pile Embedment in Fine-Grained Non-Cohesive Soils. Recent Developments in the Design and Construction of Piles, Proceedings of the Conference held at the Institution of Civil Engineers, London, March, 1979, pp. 191-198.

Tomlinson, M.J. Foundation Design and Construction," Fourth Edition, Pitman Advanced Publishing Program, Boston, 1980, pp. 438-462.

Touma, F.T. and L.C. Reese. Behavior of Bored Piles in Sand. Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, ASCE, Vol. 100, No. GT7, Proc. Paper 10651, July, 1974, pp. 749-761.

Tumay, M.T. and M. Fakhroo. Pile Capacity in Soft Clays Using Electric QCPT Data. Cone Penetration Testing and Experience, Proceedings of a Session at the ASCE National Convention, St. Louis, Missouri, October, 1981, pp. 434-455.

van der Veen, C. and L. Boesma. The Bearing Capacity of a Pile Pre-determined by a Cone Penetration Test. Proceedings, Fourth International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, London, Vol. 2, 1957, pp. 72-75.

Van der Zwaag, G.L. and G.R. Sunderland. A Comparison of Downhole and Seabed Cone Penetration Tests for Offshore Foundation Studies. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, Vol. 2, May, 1982, pp. 971-977. Van Leijden, W., H.M.A. Pachen, and J.V. Van Den Berg. Dynamic Probing Research for Pile Driving Predictions in the Netherlands. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, Vol. 1, May, 1982, pp. 285-290.

van Reenen, D.A., H.M. Coyle, and R.E. Bartoskewitz. Investigation of Soil Damping on Full-Scale Test Piles. Texas Transportation Institute, Progress Report on Research Project No. 125-6, August, 1971.

Vesic, A.S. Design of Pile Foundations. Synthesis of Highway Practice, No. 42, Transportation Research Board, 1977.

Vesic, A.S. Tests on Instrumented Piles, Ogeechee River Site. Journal of Soil Mechanics and Foundation Division, ASCE, Vol. 96, No. SM2, Proc. Paper 7170, March, 1970, pp. 561-584.

Viergever, M.A. Relation between Cone Penetration and Static Loading of Piles in Locally Strong Varying Sand Layers. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May, 1982, Vol. 2, pp. 927-932.

Waite, C.A., S.A. Narkiewicz, and W.V. Jones. Offshore Pile Load Tests on Composite Friction Piles, Lake Pend Oreille, Idaho. Proceedings, Nineteenth Annual Engineering Geology and Soils Engineering Symposium, Pocatello, Idaho, April, 1982, p. 247.

Watt, W.G., P.J. Kurfurt, and Z.P. Zeman. Comparison of Pile Load Test: Skin-friction Values and Laboratory Strength Tests. Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 339-352.

Welch, Robert C. Evaluation of Rapid Pile Load Tests. Final Report Highway Research Project No. 36. Arkansas State Highway and Transporation Department, June, 1978.

Whitaker, T. The Design of Pile Foundations. Pergamon Press, New York, 1970, pp. 26-46.

Whitaker, T. and F.R. Bullen. Pile Testing and Pile-Driving Formulae. Piles and Foundations, F.E. Young, editor. The Institution of Civil Engineers, London, 1981, pp. 121-134.

Winterkorn, H.F. and H.-Y. Fang. Foundation Engineering Handbook. Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York, 1975, pp. 572-580, 590-600.

Wright, N.D., W.R. Van Hooydonk, and D.J.M.H. Pluimgraaff. Correlation between Cone Penetration Resistance, Static and Dynamic Pipe Pile Response in Clays. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May, 1982, Vol. 1, pp. 369-373.

Wright, N., et al. Pile Instrumentation and Monitoring During Pile Driving Offshore Northwest Borneo. Proceedings, Fourteenth Annual Offshore Technology Conference, Houston, Texas, May, 1982, pp. 451-463. Wu, A.H. and R.R. Fox. Capacity of Axially Loaded Bent Piles in a Bearing Stratum Overlain by a Thick Layer of Soft Clay. Behavior of Deep Foundations, ASTM STP 670, Raymond Lundgren, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1979, pp. 592-605.

Yamane, G. and M.-J Wu. 600-Ton Piles Support West Seattle Freeway Bridge. Proceedings, Twentieth Annual Engineering Geology and Soils Engineering Symposium, Boise, Idaho, April, 1983, pp. 223-237.

York, D.L., V.G. Miller, and N.F. Ismael. Long-Term Load Transfer in End-Bearing Pipe Piles. Transportation Research Record, Transportation Research Board, No. 517, 1974, pp. 48-60.

Zeevaert, L. Foundation Engineering for Difficult Subsoil Conditions. 2nd edit-ion, Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., New York, 1983, pp. 333-339, 395-406, 416-419.

Zelikson, A. Scale Modelling of Static and Dynamic Pile Penetration. Penetration Testing, Proceedings of the Second European Symposium, Amsterdam, Netherlands, May, 1982, Vol. 1, pp. 381-386.

Zholid, A.P. Effect of the Duration of the "Rest" of a Pile of its Load-Bearing Capacity. Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, No. 4, August, 1964, pp. 224-226. West Virginia Dept. of Transportation 1900 Washington Street, East Charleston, WV 25305 ATTN: W. D. Domico Wisconsin Department of 4802 Sheboygan Ave. P.O. Box 7916 Madison, WI 53707 ATTN: S. W. Woods

Wisconsin Department of Transportation 4802 Sheboygan Ave. P.O. Box 7916 Madison, WI 53707 ATTN: S. W. Woods

Wyoming State Highway Department P.O. Box 1708 Cheyenne, WY 82002-9019 ATTN: C. H. Wilson